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Strategic Report 
 

 
 
 

 

The Board is pleased to present its report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31st March 2020. 
 
Principal activities 
 
English Rural Housing Association Limited is a not-for-profit registered provider of social housing 
directed by a voluntary Board.  The Association’s main activities are the management and development 
of affordable housing in rural areas and the housing stock profile is set out below: 
 

 March 2020 March 2019 

General needs social rent 694 647 

General needs affordable rent 156 129 

General needs intermediate rent 11 11 

Shared ownership  374 374 

TOTAL OWNED 1,235 1,161 

Managed on behalf of others 4 83 

TOTAL OWNED & MANAGED 1,239 1,244 

 
 
The Association’s business plan model is based on ensuring that operational cash flows are prioritised 
to meet the management and maintenance costs of its existing housing stock. Surplus cash is invested 
in developing new affordable homes, whilst ensuring that the current and future financial viability of the 
Association is not put at risk. The provision of services to residents and the investment in new stock is 
subject to financial assessment to ensure Value for Money (VfM). 
 
The English Rural Housing Group includes English Rural Housing Association Limited (English Rural) 
and its two subsidiaries, ER Homes Limited (ER Homes), whose principal activity is developing homes 
for sale on the open market and New Forest Villages Housing Association (NFVHA), a Registered 
Provider which joined the Group on the 30th September 2019. English Rural Housing Association does 
not provide any form of guarantees but does provide a £3 million revolving credit facility to ER Homes 
on a commercial rate of interest. 
 

A Year in Review 2019/20 
 
The annual accounts presented show the first full year of English Rural’s Business Strategy 2019-24. 
Continued strong financial performance remains a cornerstone supporting the successful delivery of 
agreed strategic ambitions. Year-on-year improvements have been secured, reflecting the overall 
success of the organisation and specifically the management of finances. This sound financial 
stewardship has positioned English Rural well at the end of the year as the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic materialised.  
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Strategic ambition one - Work with residents and deliver services in an 
accountable way 
 
English Rural has played an important role in supporting the National Housing Federation’s ‘Together 
with Tenants’ initiative. We have helped to shape the principles through membership on the national 
steering group, whilst also sharing our experiences as an early adopter. The focus of this project has 
helped to revive our overall approach to working closely with residents. During the year an impact 
assessment was completed covering current resident engagement arrangements, with lessons recorded 
and actions agreed. New ways of listening and involving have been successfully introduced, notably 
taking advantage of digital improvements. Themes such as accountability and transparency have come 
to the fore as services are developed and policies re-designed.  
 
A good example of the above in practice is the introduction of the online resident portal. This responding 
to the growing interest from households to interact and manage their accounts virtually and at their own 
convenience. The portal was developed collaboratively with residents and tested by a sample group in 
advance of the launch. This approach ensuring that the portal has been successful and achieved 
planned outcomes from the start.  
 
The independent Resident Scrutiny Group still plays a central role in representing resident interests and 
analysing performance, including comparing English Rural data with other housing associations through 
the scrutiny of our annual benchmarking report. The work carried out by this group is heard by the Board 
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via the resident Board Member and informal Board lead for resident services. The Group Audit & Risk 
Committee now also plays an enhanced role, with oversight of the formal complaints register. 
 

 Early adopter of NHF Together with Tenants 

 Resident engagement impact assessment acted on 

 Successfully launched online self-service portal 

 Resident Scrutiny Group membership extended digitally 

 New complaints role for Audit & Risk Committee  

 
Lessons learnt during the year 
 

 The impact assessment completed on resident engagement showed some weaknesses in the 
approach taken to engaging with residents and this was also evidenced from feedback received 
via formal surveys and anecdotally. The sparse geography and operational set-up of English 
Rural’s stock has always made structing engagement arrangements challenging. Working with 
residents some innovative ways have been agreed and are being implemented in response to 
this, importantly the agreed structure will attract a diverse representation of residents. 

 

 Although all complaints are recorded on a ‘Complaints Register’ and considered in line with an 
agreed policy, the Board felt that it would be useful for them to have improved line-of-sight with 
regards to formal complaints received; many of which are resolved without detail being known 
by the Board. It was agreed that a proportionate way to achieve this was for a more formal 
complaints oversight role to be carried out by the Audit & Risk Committee, the minutes of which 
are reported to the Board. The Committee terms of reference were updated to achieve this. 

 

Strategic ambition two - Grow by building new homes in partnership with 
rural communities  
 
The current year has seen several changes as English Rural mobilises resources to deliver growth 
ambitions. Year-on-year completions are higher, but more importantly emerging opportunities have also 
increased. Investment in the development team has enabled this growth across a broader geography, 
which was outlined within a revised development strategy. This expansion has been supported by the 
new communications strategy. 
 
English Rural has a strong brand on which to base growth, but more than ever rural communities assess 
the credentials of the product that we offer and expect exceptional quality. During the year the 
development team reviewed the standard of homes provided, reflecting our own aspirations for 
improving further the level of environmental and design achievements. This work focussed on the 
principles of ‘fabric-first’ design, providing a product that is well designed and low cost for households to 
run.  
 
Our longstanding relationships with local authority partners and Homes England remains critical to our 
ability to secure and invest in new affordable rural homes. Our ability here has also been supported 
through our development subsidiary ER Homes Ltd, which became more active during the year. Activity 
undertaken by ER Homes Ltd now plays a more modest role in growth plans. Allowing us to be more 
creative in our outlook and enhance our financial investment potential. 
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 Year-on-year increase in new affordable rural homes built 

 Refreshed development strategy and investment in staff capacity 

 Review of build standard and focus on ‘fabric first’ approach 

 Increased role for development subsidiary ER Homes Ltd 

 
Lessons learnt during the year 
 

 Mobilising the development pipeline to achieve growth is being co-ordinated to achieve a 
reasonable pace. Overcoming increasingly complex challenges to advance rural development 
opportunity takes time and it is optimistic to expect that numbers that reflect business ambitions 
will be seen in the immediate term. Equally, balancing the level of opportunities that do emerge 
needs careful management to avoid future disappointment should too many potential 
developments emerge at the same time. 

 

 The increased role for ER Homes achieves the longstanding ambition to be more dynamic and 
innovative in our approach to growing. As ER Homes has become more active, securing 
improvements to the intra-group relationship and strengthening overall governance has also 
been necessary. For example, the frequency of meetings, increased line-of-sight at Parent Board 
meetings, updating intra-group agreements in place. 
 

Strategic ambition three - Play a leading and influential role nationally within 
the rural housing sector 
 
Sustaining a high-level profile and using the voice this affords to promote the need for affordable rural 
homes is important for delivering on our purpose, but also those of our like-minded partners both inside 
and outside of the housing association sector. Over recent years English Rural has sought to invest time 
in developing a national network and reputation. This work received several boosts during the year. 
Firstly, by the recruitment of a dedicated communications lead and development of a communications 
strategy. Secondly, the Patronage received from HRH The Princess Royal was renewed.  
 
A common theme running through all strategic ambitions is the increased benefit from using technology 
and enhanced digital approach. Improvements to our social media presence and website are examples 
of how this was applied to extend the reach of our influence during the year.  
 
English Rural are proud of the profile that we have, but we recognise the ability to have real impact 
comes from the strong relationships that we form with others and when these come together to speak 
as one. The value in this has been shown in the coordinated responses to key planning and housing 
consultations that emerged during the year, these carried out by the Government but having the potential 
to significantly impact on our Business Strategy and the continued success of trusted delivery models. 
Variations to public policy remain one of the primary risks that we face and ensuring that a strong rural 
lobby is sustained and heard by the Government is crucial. 
 

 New communications strategy and investment in staff capacity 

 Renewal of Royal Patronage 

 Digital reach extended using social media and website 

 Responded to critical planning and housing policy consultations 

 Continue to grow network and collaborate successfully with others  
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Lessons learnt during the year 
 

 One of the biggest risks to delivering agreed business strategy continues to be the uncertain 
political landscape. Suggested direction of policy changes are a continued distraction and 
possible risk for English Rural. Despite our own efforts and also those of other rural advocates, 
the Government continues to overlook the needs and concerns of rural communities with little or 
no rural proofing applied as national policy is developed. This uncertainty remains one of the 
primary risks faced by English Rural and our scale puts any response at an immediate 
disadvantage.  

 
Strategic ambition four - Invest in and deliver good governance 
 
Maintaining strong and effective governance is vital in ensuring that English Rural continues to be well 
run. A review of our compliance against the Governance and Viability Standard by the Regulator of 
Social Housing during the year reaffirmed our gradings at the highest levels of G1 and V1. There is 
though no room for complacency and a programme of governance enhancement has been embarked 
on, with some notable outcomes completed.  
 
A new Risk Management Framework was established, linked to the Business Strategy 2019-24 and 
operating context. Standing Orders and Financial Regulations, which provide the framework for decision 
making and delegation were also redrafted. These changes allowed the opportunity to reflect the 
different Group structure, specifically the merger of NFVHA into the Group and increased activity of the 
subsidiary ER Homes Ltd. Much of the governance work has been supported by consultants Altair, who 
have also been contracted to undertake a review of Board effectiveness. The results of this review will 
be reported to and considered by the Board at the July 2020 meeting. 
 
Reviews have been undertaken of the staffing team and board profile, to identify any skill gaps or 
succession needs. The outcome from this work was some changes to the level and roles of staff, 
including developing some functions by recruiting new skills or supporting training. A succession plan 
has been agreed by the Board, with two new Board Members recruited during the year and further future 
recruitment timeframes confirmed. A programme of board training has also been embarked on. 
Committee skills have been strengthened following a review of membership, including the decision to 
consider co-opted committee members. Specifically, the Audit & Risk Committee has been refreshed, 
with a new name and comprehensively updated terms of reference. One of the first roles of this 
Committee was to re-tender internal audit services, with Beever and Struthers appointed at the end of a 
competitive process. 
 

 Retained V1 and G1 regulatory gradings 

 Risk Management Framework refreshed to reflect Business Strategy 
incorporating new terms for an Audit & Risk Committee 

 Standing Orders and Financial Regulations redrafted 

 Board Effectiveness Review started 

 Board succession and training plans agreed  

 New external auditors appointed, and internal audit services tendered 

 
 
Lessons learnt during the year 
 

 Recruitment of new Board Members is happening in an increasingly competitive market, where 
other housing associations increasingly offer to pay for non-executive roles. The recruitment 
undertaken during the year was successful, attracting skills and talent hoped for. However, the 
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ability to continue to do so needs to be kept under review by the Board. Furthermore, the pace 
of change on the Board as the agreed succession planning is pursued should also be managed 
carefully to safeguard the culture that makes English Rural the successful organisation that it is. 

 

 Regulatory and legal expectations on English Rural and the cost (time, capacity and money) of 
compliance continue to increase in response to internal growth and external expectations. 
Monitoring the cost of this compliance and impact it has on business resource is something that 
the Board have agreed to do. 

 
Strategic ambition five - Invest in securing and keeping the best talent 
 
Working with our retained people and culture advisors, a plan has been prepared and partially 
implemented during the year focussed on supporting staff development, performance, welfare and 
working practices. This work was started by our first ever full staff satisfaction survey, the results of which 
have been used to determine the agreed plan of action. 
 
One area of weakness was shown to be the environment for staff working out of the Surrey office. The 
expansion of the staff team over recent years had meant that that the office space had become too small 
and unsuitable for current needs. Working closely with staff a new office space was secured and move 
completed in the final quarter. This new space provides something equal to the London office, where a 
similar review and move happened in 2017.  
 
Perhaps the biggest improvement secured is the way that staff now communicate and share information. 
The introduction of the WorkPlace software platform for staff has been well-received and used to 
collaborate more effectively. The Board have also benefitted from their own separate use of WorkPlace. 
English Rural has also continued to invest in supporting agile working, through software, changes to 
process and the way we communicate. For example, the increased use of video conferencing was 
already common-place in advance of Covid-19 restrictions making it the norm. The consistent digital 
gains across all areas have led to staff working more effectively and efficiently.  
 

 First staff satisfaction survey completed, and results acted on 

 New and improved office environment achieved for Surrey based staff 

 Introduction of WorkPlace for communication and collaboration 

 Investment in technology and digital business improvements 

 Board succession and training plans agreed 

 Staff away day and organisational values agreed 

 
During the year a full staff ‘Away Day’ was arranged. The focus was on team working and developing a 
set of organisational values. The values agreed by staff were: 
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Lessons learnt during the year 
 

 At an individual level engagement with new ways of working moves at different speeds. Offering 
support, either through training or more informal coaching has helped to achieve cultural and 
behavioural changes to working practices. Showing how changes can secure improvements to 
performance and overall productivity has been essential. Improvements to communication at all 
levels has been a focus following feedback from the staff satisfaction survey that identified this 
as necessary, whilst noting recent gains already made. 

 

 Now that organisational values have been agreed securing ongoing value from them is important 
if staff are to feel that the work involved in developing them was worthwhile. Listening to feedback 
from staff and advisors, arrangements have been made to embed staff values within the revised 
appraisal process. 
   

Strategic ambition six - Actively seek partnership opportunities with other 
smaller rural housing associations. 
 
Recognising the value of collaboration and partnership, English Rural continued to work with smaller 
housing associations during the year. These are transactional relationships, where English Rural make 
available expertise of the staff team on a commercial basis. There is a careful balance to be struck where 
capacity made available is not over-reached to the extent that it impacts internal performance. The fee 
income generated is applied to delivering on agreed purpose and an important part of the value for 
money approach. During the year we supplied services to three other housing associations and secured 
income of £35,000. 
 
Aside from the fee income the motivation behind this approach is to help others deliver on their potential, 
which secures more affordable rural homes and aligns a mutual purpose. English Rural’s reputation as 
a trusted partner and honest broker is integral to success. During the year our model of partnership 
working was shared with others and influenced projects separately undertaken by the Rural Housing 
Alliance and National Housing Federation Smaller HA Group. 
 
The longstanding partnership with NFVHA evolved during the year as they joined the English Rural 
Group as a subsidiary. This action was initiated by the NFVHA Board and completed after a detailed 
due diligence process. Within the Group, NFVHA have access to more support services from English 
Rural and secure better value for money as central costs are shared or jointly negotiated. NFVHA retains 
an independent identity as a separate housing association and established local brand presence. 
English Rural have greater confidence to invest its own resources in the New Forest District, increasing 
the overall combined capacity that can be applied to build more affordable rural homes there. 
 

 14 homes under construction via development partnership 

 £35,000 fee income generated that can be applied to purpose 

 Merger of NFVHA into the English Rural Group 

 Partnership working benefits promoted to housing association peers 

 
Lessons learnt during the year 
 

 As English Rural’s own ambitions have increased, the capacity to provide services to others has 
come under pressure. Proactively managing this has become more important and this has been 
considered during the review each business area has carried out to staffing levels and structure.  
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 One barrier that remains to improve partnership working is a cultural resistance across the 
housing association sector, particularly smaller housing associations to form strategic 
partnership. The approach adopted by English Rural need to understand this and maintain our 
position as a trusted and genuine ally, which reflects internal culture and aspirations. 

 

Strategic ambition seven - Use assets effectively and support sound 
financial health. 
 
Business improvement has become a general trend across all areas as English Rural looks to achieve 
efficiency gains and become more effective operationally. Dedicated staff resource and planning is now 
applied to this. Enhancing our digital potential and offer has been a focus during the current year. Notable 
projects include improving internal workflow by using new collaboration software, commencing a 
capacity review of existing management software and launching our self-service online offer for 
residents. Outcomes have included better productivity and quality of offer. By participating in a 
benchmarking group facilitated by Acuity, English Rural is also able to compare itself against and learn 
from peers with a similar profile and also the wider housing association sector via the benchmark website 
Housemark.  
 
During the year a new asset management strategy was agreed, reflecting the results of the stock 
condition survey completed in 2018. This strategy commits to providing a safe place for residents to live, 
whilst in the longer term mapping the broader performance of homes as assets through the application 
of the asset management toolkit. The continued emphasis on safety meant that fire, gas and electrical 
compliance was maintained across the year. Recognition of the declared climate emergency is 
embedded within the strategy, with an acceleration of upgrading the environmental credentials of poor 
performing homes. 
 
The annual budget setting process was used as a trigger to review expenditure and income, with the 
opportunity taken to consider where costs can be managed and income potential maximised. Examples 
of this include a review of rent setting for both rented and shared ownership homes, with the former 
returning to a positive increase in line with regulatory guidance from 2020/21. The approach to rent 
setting supports the financing of strategic ambitions shown in the 30-year financial business plan. 
Revenue income streams have diversified, specifically by blending in cross-subsidy secured from the 
development subsidiary ER Homes Ltd, which now pursues an independent moderate sales programme 
reflecting agreed risk tolerance. This approach is consistent with the updated development strategy 
outlined during the year, which also included a review and improvement to the performance standard to 
be achieved from new build projects.  
 
As English Rural borrows more to fund ambitions, treasury strategy is also used to manage the profile 
of debt, taking advantage of the continued low interest environment and hedging against future interest 
rate changes. The average interest paid on debt at the end of the year was 3.74% (3.81% 2018/19). 
Borrowing potential has also been supported by making sure that so far as possible, new homes can 
secure a Market Value Subject to Tenancies (MV-STT) value. This being higher than the traditional 
Existing Use Value Social Housing (EUV-SH), that reflects greater restrictions on property titles and 
rents. There have also been some retrospective changes to achieve this on legacy stock. The combined 
impact freeing up assets and increasing available cover for new borrowing.  
 

 Focus on business improvement and investment in staff capacity 

 New asset management strategy 

 Improved operating margins and key metric secured 

 More income secured from development subsidiary ER Homes Ltd 

 Review of approach to rent setting  
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 Improvements to asset potential used for security cover 

 Landlord health and safety compliance maintained  

 
Lessons learnt during the year 
 

 Overall the current programme of retrofitting renewable energy heating in older homes has 
been successful but delivering has taken much longer than agreed. This reflects a range of 
challenges, some of which were not anticipated. For example, a reluctance for households to 
accept the level of disruption that comes with installation work. Unforeseen grant restrictions 
have also caused problems. Moving forward a more planned approach to achieving 
environmental improvements to existing homes is needed. 

 

 The complexity of incorporating existing data contained within management software with that 
captured by the Stock Condition Survey has been more time-consuming than expected. Data 
cleansing and mapping have all been necessary as progress is made. 

 
 

Risk Management & Assurance 
 
During the year English Rural has strengthened the approach to risk management so that it reflects the 
Business Strategy 2019-24 and risk environment. This work has incorporated redrafting the Risk 
Management Framework. Included in this redrafting was the formation of a specific Audit & Risk 
Committee, a review of agreed risk appetite from the Board to guide risk culture and updated formatting 
of the Strategic Risk Register. The latter used dynamically by the senior executive and Board to 
understand and respond to risks. The new Risk Management Framework accommodates structural 
changes to the Group, which now sees a more active role played by the development subsidiary ER 
Homes Ltd and the merger of NFVHA. English Rural’s approach to risk management reflects the ‘Three 
Lines of Defence' model. This model works by dividing responsibilities and relationships to risk 
management across internal and external leads. Put simply, the first line of defence is the individual staff 
member and application of an agreed process; the second reporting, internal assurance, and control 
mechanisms, and the third external assurance from internal audit or comparable third-party.  
 
Each year a 30-year Financial Business Plan is prepared and then tested against a range of stress 
scenarios. These scenarios are determined by the Audit & Risk Committee, reflecting known risks and 
possible unknown risks. Agreed scenarios also reflect the Sector Risk Profile, which is prepared and 
published annually by the Regulator of Social Housing. The scenarios applied include a ‘perfect storm’ 
test designed to break the Financial Business Plan. Testing in this way enables the senior executive 
staff, Audit & Risk Committee and Board to see what change the materialisation of risks will have. 
Importantly it also enables agreement on what mitigation or corrective action English Rural can take in 
response given the timeframes shown. This year the testing process introduced an extra Covid-19 
scenario. 
 
Approaching risk in the way described manages risks in the short, medium and longer term. This is in 
line with expectations set by the Regulator of Social Housing for housing associations like English Rural, 
which says the approach must include ‘robust stress tests, internal control systems and appropriate risk 
management’ 
 
The highest-level risks, together with the mitigation measures in place are shown in the extract below. 
This extract has been taken from the Strategic Risk Register considered by the Board at their meeting 
on 22nd April 2020. For the benefit of this annual review, two of the highest rated risks are covered 
separately with additional narrative and context. 
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Critical 
Success 
Factor 

Risk Event or Activity Mitigation Measures in Place 

Multi impact Covid-19 pandemic 

• Business Continuity Plan                          
• Bespoke stress test scenario                           
• Government support/intervention measures                              
• Aim to continue with ‘Business as Usual’ as far as  
  possible with staff working from home. 
• Measures in place to safeguard residents and staff. 
• Access to sufficient liquidity to allow all suppliers/staff to  
  be paid as usual 

Financial 
Viability 

Rapid deterioration in 
UK economic conditions. 
Including the 
deterioration of the 
housing market. 

• Treasury Strategy 
• Budget process 
• Financial Business Plan stress testing 
• Mid-term review of Business Strategy 2019-24          
• Regular re-evaluation of scheme viability and property  
  values.  

Strategy 

Political uncertainty / 
government policy 
developments adverse 
to the Association 

• Advocacy and influencing activities 
• Financial Business Plan stress testing 
• Chief Executive sector profile and influence 

Strategy 
Welfare Reform, leading 
to increased rent arrears  

• Rent collection and arrears management  
• Standing item on agenda of Housing Team’s monthly  
  meetings 
• Regular staff training/briefing sessions 

Financial 
Viability 

Possible consequences 
of Brexit  

• Detailed consideration given to risks arising in the event  
  of a no-deal Brexit. Reviewed again by EMT in Sept  
  2019. 
• Annual financial stress-testing of financial model.   

Strategy 

The “Rural Exceptions 
site” planning policy may 
become diluted by 
national drive to build 
more homes e.g. Entry 
Level Exception Sites 

• Influencing and advocacy activities          
• Contribution to neighbourhood and local plans 
• Diversification of scheme types and sources  
• Development of homes through subsidiary for market  
  sale 

Development/ 
new homes/ 

growth 
Advocacy/ 
Reputation 

Under performance or 
failure of development 
subsidiary (ER Homes 
Ltd). 

• Development procedures including “gateway” process 
• Management accounts and 30-year financial business  
  plan          
• Regular re-evaluation of scheme viability and property  
  values                                    
• Ability to delay and/or stop schemes not already under  
  contract 

Financial 
Viability 

Spending or income 
seriously at variance with 
budget and financial 
business plan impacting 
narrow margins 

• Management accounts 
• SOFR’s /policies 
• Internal audit plan 
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Critical 
Success 
Factor 

Risk Event or Activity Mitigation Measures in Place 

Health & 
Safety 

Breach of requirements 
leading to regulatory 
intervention 

• Landlord Health & Safety procedure in place 
• Development procedures incorporate site H&S 
• Corporate H&S 

Strategy 
Delivery of Business 
Strategy threatened   

• Revised Business Strategy considered by the Board. 
• Strategy incorporated into delivery plan. 
• Operate within agreed development parameters /  
  gateway process.  

 
Covid 19 
 
On 2nd March 2020 the UK Government convened a COBRA meeting to discuss the likelihood of a 
national emergency arising from Covid-19, this was followed on 3rd March with the publication of an 
action plan to deal with the virus. On March 11th the World Health Organisation (WHO) confirmed that 
Covid-19 had become a global pandemic. On the 11th March English Rural published its Covid-19 
Business Continuity Response, triggering the activation of agreed business continuity arrangements. 
This response reflecting preparations that had already been discussed by the senior executive team and 
Board. 
 
Core principles at the centre of English Rural’s response were the safety and wellbeing of residents, 
staff and protection of core business activity. These principles have guided the response as the crisis 
has evolved. The Business Continuity Plan has provided a framework for the response to the crisis, 
which has been overseen by a Crisis Team and the Board. Changes to the crisis have been regularly 
recorded and reported on. A detailed Covid-19 report was considered by the Board at their April 2020 
meeting, the Strategic Risk Register has been kept updated to reflect the impact on risks. A Covid-19 
scenario was incorporated within the testing of the 30-year Financial Business Plan. A full review of 
English Rural’s business strategy is planned for the Autumn, at which point it is expected that the 
emerging risks presented by the pandemic will be clearer. 
 
Going into the period of crisis English Rural was well-prepared, with effective management and business 
continuity arrangements in place. Digital achievements secured over the preceding year as well as those 
which formed part of the accepted agile working culture meant that the Association could readily 
accommodate changes implemented to protect public safety. High levels of safety compliance, low levels 
of rent arrears and sound underlying financial health and liquidity have all aided the business during the 
crisis. English Rural also benefits from effective channels of good communication, supportive staff team 
and competent Board. These strong business credentials enabling a focus on supporting residents and 
staff during uncertain times.  
 
As English Rural moves out of the crisis a Recovery Plan has been agreed. This Plan seeks to re-
establish business ambitions where they have been impacted. It will also lead to some wider reviews so 
that the full extent of impact on the Business Strategy 2019-24 is considered. Throughout the crisis, 
opportunities have also emerged and where possible English Rural has sought to secure gains secured 
from these. Notable examples include culture and process, where efficiencies have been secured from 
changes to working practice. 
 
The Board has considered, and continues to review, the operational and financial impact of the Covid-
19 pandemic on English Rural and its subsidiaries. The Board has implemented appropriate measures 
in response to the pandemic and has reviewed its business plans and stress tests, including potential 
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financial impacts to its development, property maintenance and customer service obligations. Based on 
this review and on-going measures, the Board has determined there are no material going concern 
uncertainties arising as a result of the pandemic. The Board continues to review the government and the 
Regulator’s advice, monitor sector publications on the potential impacts of the pandemic as well as to 
continue to closely monitor impacts on English Rural. 
 
Brexit 
 
Uncertainties around how the UK will end the transition period agreed between the UK and EU remain.  
In advance of the UK exiting the EU consideration was given to the risks from a ‘no deal’ scenario. These 
risks have not materialised, but neither have they gone away. As negotiations between the UK and EU 
climax in advance of the 31st December 2020 deadline, it is entirely possible that a ‘no deal’ scenario 
could again become a likely outcome. This risk is retained on the Strategic Risk Register and subject to 
regular review. The materialisation of a ‘no deal’ scenario was also included as a scenario in the annual 
testing of the 30-year Financial Business Plan. 
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Financial performance 
 
   Group Accounts highlights, five-year summary: 

For the year ended 31 March  

 
 

2020 

  
2019 

Restated 

 

2018       

 

2017  

 
2016  

 £000’s  £000’s  £000's 
 

£000's  £000's  
Comprehensive Income Statement     

  

    
Total turnover: 6,828  5,638  6,442 

 
5,515 

 
5,818  

Income from social housing lettings 5,803  5,505  5,510 
 

5,410 
 

5,356  
Operating surplus 1,811  1,450  1,796 

 
1,580 

 
1,640  

Gain on acquisition 2,639  -  -  -  -  

Surplus for the year   3,333  291  462  203  399  

Other comprehensive income 130    (138)  -  -  -  
Total comprehensive income 
transferred to reserves 

 
3,463 

  
153 

  
462 

  
203 

 
399  

     
    

  
Statement of Financial Position     

    
  

Housing properties net of depreciation 
 

87,793 
  

81,185 
  

78,045 

 
 

77,623 

 

76,673  
Financial assets 396  390  385  384  382  
Other fixed assets 66  28  39 

 
54 

 
6  

Net current assets 1,441  1,909  4,548 
 

5,347 
 

7,489  
Total assets less current liabilities 89,696  83,512  83,017 

 
83,408 

 
84,550   

Creditors (greater than one year) 
 

(72,827) 
  

(70,106) 
  

(69,764) 

 
 

(70,616) 

 

(71,962)  
Net Assets 16,869  13,406  13,253 

 
12,792 

 
12,588  

     
    

  
Reserves 16,869  13,406  13,253 

 
12,792 

 
12,588  

     
    

  
Housing properties owned at year 
end: 

    
    

  
Social housing 1,235  1,161  1,154 

 
1,136 

 
1,118  

     
    

  
Statistics:     

    
  

Operating margin 26.5%  25.7%  27.9% 
 

28.6% 
 

28.2%  
           
Rent losses (voids and bad debts as 
a % of rent and service charges 
receivable) 

 
0.6% 

  
0.7% 

  
0.4% 

 
 

(0.1%) 

 

0.3%  

Rent arrears (gross arrears as % of 
rent and service charges receivable) 

 
 

1.3% 

  
 

1.9% 

  
 

1.5% 

 
 
 

1.5% 

 

2.0%  
Historic Cost Gearing (loans less 
cash as % historic cost of completed 
properties) 

 
 

31.4% 

  
 

30.1% 

  
 

28.0% 

  
 

29.6% 

 

28.2%  
Interest cover (operating surplus as 
% of net interest payable) * 

 
162.1% 

  
125.1% 

  
132.4% 

 
 

118.2% 

 

132.2%  
 
* This interest cover definition is not adjusted for capitalised interest and non-cash items such as depreciation and 

is, therefore, different from the definitions used for the loan covenants and VFM Metrics on pages 15 and 18. 
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The Board reports a surplus for the year of £3,333k (2019: £290k). The surplus is significantly higher 
this year compared to last year, mainly due to a £2,639k gain on the acquisition of New Forest Villages 
Housing Association on the 30th September 2019. Excluding this gain, the comparative with last year 
would be £694k. Surpluses of £316k from both low-cost home ownership and market sales also helped 
to improve the overall surplus.  
 
Treasury management 
 
Undrawn, fully secured, borrowing facilities of £15m are available through both Triodos (£3m) and 
Santander (£12m). These, together with existing cash balances, will provide enough funding to fund the 
majority of the remaining development programme set out in the 2019-24 Business Strategy. An 
additional £1.3m of facilities will need to be secured by 2023 so there is no immediate need to put this 
funding in place as most of the programme is not yet contracted. 
 
Despite a further 1% reduction in rents, performance against the interest cover loan covenant, as shown 
below, has improved slightly this year as forecast due to the increase in operating surplus generated by 
additional properties coming on stream. In addition, interest costs have only slightly increased from last 
year as interest rates remain at historically low levels and the remaining cash generated from the AHF 
loan is used to fund development costs rather than drawing additional loans. Gearing has increased, 
reflecting additional drawdowns at the end of 2019/20 to provide additional liquidity to mitigate any cash 
flow risks associated with the impact of Covid-19. 
 
English Rural Housing Association Only: 
 
Covenant Definition Tightest Covenant 

 
2019/20 2018/19 

 
Interest cover – adjusted for major 
repairs, capitalised interest and excluding 
surpluses/deficits on sale of assets 

 
Greater than 110% 

 
159% 

 
147% 

Gearing – Net Borrowings / Historic Cost 
of Properties 
 

Less than 50% 32.1% 30.7% 

 
Cash flows are shown in the Statement of Cash Flows on page 33.  This shows that £2.5m (2019: £2.1m) 
of cash was generated from operations, and £0.8m (2019: £1.0m) of loans were repaid.  Cash balances 
were used to fund investments in new homes and new components of £5.7m (2019: £4.1m) and interest 
payments of £1.3m (2019: £1.3m).  At 31 March 2020, cash balances were £2.4m (2019: £3.3m), and 
£15.0m in undrawn but available loan facilities were in place (2019: £18.0m).   
 
There are 180 properties that are currently unsecured and available for charging with a minimum security 
value of around £15m. 
 
Future performance 
 
As noted above, despite the impact of Covid-19, there is no sign that English Rural’s purpose of providing 
and managing affordable rural housing will become less relevant in the future.  The business strategy 
review process in 2019 identified increased investment capacity and an ambition to use this ability to 
develop more affordable homes, as well as investing in existing homes and services. 
 
The strategy will be underpinned by continued assurance of: 
 

 A strong governance framework, running from the Board throughout the organisation; 
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 A robust approach to risk management, balancing risks and rewards and ensuring that conscious 

decisions are made around the risk appetite; 

 

 Strong and continued advocacy for affordable rural housing, working with partners and other 

influencers, including providing support services to peers. 

 
The 2020 Financial Business Plan, approved by the Board, makes full provision for the funding of the 
approved development programme, maintenance identified in the stock condition survey, and meets all 
existing funding covenants. The Plan will, however, be reviewed again in the Autumn 2020 to incorporate 
any potential impact on financial and operational variables caused by the emerging risk of Covid-19. 
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Value for Money 
 
Approach to Value for Money (VfM) 
 
The Board recognises that it is essential that English Rural is focused on demonstrating VfM through its 
activities. The housing sector is facing big challenges, both in terms of delivering new supply and 
maintaining high levels of services to existing residents. English Rural’s business model is built on 
ensuring that services to existing residents are maintained at a high level and fully funded before looking 
to contribute any internal resources to the provision of new homes. To deliver VfM, English Rural is 
prepared to be innovative, be more commercial and generate economies of scale through both organic 
and inorganic growth. These actions will deliver greater financial capacity to invest in the Association’s 
agreed purpose. English Rural’s VfM Strategy can be summarised as the ability to effectively mobilise 
investment and deliver on its agreed purpose, whilst using capacity and resources more efficiently. To 
understand how well it does this, it is important that there are easy to measure targets and outcomes. 
These include both financial and non-financial, some which will be generic and comparable across the 
sector and others which are more specific to English Rural’s overall Business Strategy. 
 
VFM Standard 
 
A new Value for Money (VfM) Standard, issued by the Regulator for Social Housing (RSH), came into 
effect from April 2018. It moved the focus of the RSH’s approach away from the primarily narrative VfM 
Statements to reporting through the statutory annual accounts by Registered Providers (RPs) such as 
English Rural, on progress in meeting their own targets, including a suite of metrics to be defined, from 
time to time by the RSH. 
 
The outcomes required by the new Standard are that housing association providers registered with the 
RSH must: 
 
(a) Clearly articulate their strategic objectives; 
(b) Have an approach agreed by the Board to the achievement of VfM in meeting those objectives 

and the demonstration of the delivery of VfM to stakeholders; 
(c) Through the strategic objectives to articulate the Board’s strategy for delivering homes that meet 

a range of needs; 
(d) Ensure that optimal benefit is derived from resources and assets to secure economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness in the delivery of strategic objectives. 
 
The new VfM Standard requires housing providers to determine additional measures and targets which 
are bespoke to the organisation and which supplement the VfM metrics. This includes measurable 
targets and plans to address any areas of underperformance. The Group performance figures for 
2019/20 against the VfM metrics are shown below. Sector wide figures provided by the RSH are shown 
for comparison purposes. It should be noted that the benchmark comparisons, even though the most 
recently published, are a year out of date and so are not directly comparable with English Rural’s figures 
for 2019/20.  
 
The VfM metrics are extremely helpful in ensuring that focus continues on both improving efficiency and 
economy as well as on investment in both existing and new homes. This is sometimes a difficult balance 
to maintain, and one which was significantly impacted by the implementation of the four years of 1% rent 
reductions started in 2016. As with other registered housing providers, this has put pressure on operating 
margins, return on capital employed and interest cover. English Rural’s approach to navigating these 
financial pressures continues to be to grow, both through building new homes and through opportunities 
to work with other like-minded partners. The aim being to spread overheads and improve financial 
capacity to deliver more homes and services in the future.    
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English Rural’s strategic approach to VfM is shown through the Business Strategy 2019/24, the success 
of which is in part measured by linking improvements to VfM metrics. The Strategy looks to apply 
resources to achieve agreed purpose, whilst delivering more for the same or less. Importantly achieving 
this whilst positively enhancing financial, staff and asset performance. The result of this being better 
productivity and improved VfM.  
 
Value for Money Metrics (Group) 
 

Metric English 
Rural  
2019/20 

English 
Rural  
2018/19 

English 
Rural  
2017/18 

Median  
 
RP’s < 
2,500 units 

Median  
 
All RP’s > 
1,000 units 

1 - Reinvestment % 6.3% 5.5% 2.2% 4.3% 6.2% 

2 - New supply delivered %:      

A. New supply delivered (Social 
Housing Units)  

2.2% 
 

0.6% 1.6% 0.6% 1.5% 

B. New supply delivered (Non-
Social Housing Units)  

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
 

3 - Gearing % 37.0% 35.3% 33.1% 34.1% 43.4% 

4 - EBITDA MRI Interest 
Cover (inc sales) % ** 

189% 148% 183% 194% 184% 

5 - Headline social housing 
cost per unit 

£2,799 £2,688 £2,326 £4,880 £3,690 

6 - Operating Margin %:      

A. Operating Margin (social 
housing lettings only) 

26.4% 27.2% 32.5% 23.3% 29.2% 

B. Operating Margin (overall) 26.5% 25.8% 27.9% 20.3% 25.8% 

7 - Return on capital 
employed 

2.0% 1.7% 2.2% 3.1% 3.8% 

 
* Source: Regulator of Social Housing – Value for money metrics and reporting 2019 Annex to 2019 
Global Accounts 
** This interest cover definition differs from that used by our funders (see page 15) as it is at Group level 
and includes surpluses from the sale of properties. Performance is, therefore, generally higher than for 
loan covenant purposes. 
 
Re-investment (Efficiency) – 6.3% versus 4.3% benchmark* (Target 6%)  
 
This measure will fluctuate year-on-year depending on the profile of spend on both the replacement of 
existing capital components eg kitchens and bathrooms and the timing of spend on new developments. 
However, there is an increased trend over the last three years, and this spend profile will continue over 
the next three to four years, as English Rural delivers its planned 200 new affordable homes, and re-
investment will average around 6% over this period, in line with the median for RPs owning more than 
1,000 units. 
 
* benchmark taken as RP’s under 2,500 units (median) 
 
New supply delivered (Effectiveness) – 2.2% versus 0.6% benchmark (Target 3.3%) 
 
As with re-investment, the percentage of new supply delivered will fluctuate year-on-year depending on 
the timing of completions. The forecast average over the next four years is 3.3% which is significantly 

Green 

Amber 
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ahead of benchmark figures and demonstrate English Rural’s commitment to use its financial capacity 
and deliver new affordable homes. Performance is marked as amber to date because the full impact of 
the pipeline of schemes is still coming through and actual is still below target. This was anticipated as 
there is a significant lead-in time between investment decisions and completions. 
 
Plans to meet strategic target: 
 

 During the year an additional member of the Development Team was recruited to provide further 
project management support in the delivery of new homes.  

 The approved Communications Strategy looks to support development growth outlined in the 
refreshed development strategy presented to the Board. 

 An increase in the development programme and pipeline to over 250 units. 
 
Gearing (Efficiency) – 37.0% versus 34.1% benchmark (Target – below 42%) 
 
Current gearing of 37.0% is above the median for English Rural’s size and is forecast to rise to 42% over 
the next five years as more debt is taken on to deliver the Business Strategy. Debt per unit increases 
from £29k to £33k over this period. This is a manageable increase and within the Board’s accepted risk 
tolerance. The increase is also in-line with English Rural’s business plan expectations and with the 
median for Registered Providers owning more than 1,000 units. 
 
EBITDA MRI Interest Cover (Efficiency) – 189% versus 194% benchmark (Target > 
240%) 
 
This metric has been directly impacted by the implementation of the four years of 1% rent reductions 
and also the interest cost of carrying the cash proceeds from the Affordable Homes Fund taken out in 
2015. The £11.6m of funds raised have now all been invested into new affordable homes and rental 
income generated more than covers the interest payable. The 2019/20 position has improved, reflecting 
the additional sales surpluses generated in the year compared to 2018/19. Underlying social housing 
interest cover is still squeezed, not only by the recent rent reductions, but also cost and volume pressure 
on repairs, particularly void and major repairs. Despite this, the expectation is that this measure of 
interest cover will start to increase and average 240% over the next four years, ahead of benchmarks. 
 
Plans to meet strategic target: 
 

 Delivery of the planned sales programme of 39 low cost home ownership units and 10 market 
sales homes up to 2024. 

 Review the void specification process (including an internal audit on void management). 
 
Headline social housing cost per unit (Economy) - £2,799 versus £4,880 benchmark 
 
English Rural performs well in this area and will continue to do so for the foreseeable future. As English 
Rural’s stock has been built mostly over the last 20 years, to date there has not been the need to spend 
significant sums on capital replacements. This programme of replacement will increase over the next 
five years, as more kitchens and bathrooms in particular will need replacing. It will also be impacted by 
ambitions to respond to the Climate Emergency and improve the environmental credentials of legacy 
stock. Average unit costs will, therefore, start to increase although are projected to remain well below 
the benchmark median. The increase will be partially offset by the addition of 200 affordable homes 
achieved through the Business Strategy. The economies of scale achieved by this growth will have a 
positive impact on overall costs per unit.  
 
 
 
 

Green 

Amber 

Green 
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Operating Margin % (Efficiency) 
Social housing – 26.4% versus 23.3% benchmark (Target 30%) 
 
Social housing margins have been squeezed due to the 1% rent reductions affecting the majority of 
English Rural’s stock. Increasing operating margins is a priority for the English Rural Board and an 
outcome expected through the new Business Strategy. This will be achieved by increasing operating 
surpluses through growing unit numbers, economies of scale in terms of cost control and looking at 
partnering opportunities to further spread overheads. Increasing core margins is essential to freeing up 
financial capacity and improving returns on capital employed. Margins have partly been held back by 
cost and volume pressure with repairs and voids. This has meant that margins were around 3% lower 
than expected last year. Margins are projected to increase to 30.0% by 2024. 
 
Plans to meet strategic target: 
 

 Review the void specification process (including an internal audit on void management). 

 Delivery of further homes from the development pipeline. 

 Identify partnership opportunities to secure additional income or further spread overheads. 

 
Overall – 26.5% versus 20.3% benchmark (Target 30%) 
 
Overall margins have held up to be close to social housing margins. This is mainly due to the relatively 
high margin on a plot sale by ER Homes during the year. Normally, overall margins are lower as they 
include business activities which have lower returns. Income generated form third party services and 
development activities have much lower margins than social housing. However central overheads, which 
are mostly fixed, allocated to those activities help reduce the costs associated with social housing lettings 
and as a result improve those margins. Overall margins are projected to increase to 29.8% by 2024. 
 
Return on capital employed (Efficiency) – 2.0% versus 3.1% benchmark 
(Target 2.5%) 
 
The one area where there appears to be a relative underperformance is in relation to return on capital 
employed (ROCE).  The Association’s business plan forecasts show that ROCE will average 2.5% over 
the next five years but remains below the current benchmark average.  
 
Having sought to understand the reasons for this, the high proportion of shared ownership properties 
owned has been identified as one of the main reasons. The historic model of shared ownership sold by 
English Rural was designed to be an affordable product in high-value rural areas. Because of this, the 
model charges very low rents on the retained shares, and consequently, secures lower returns for the 
Association. The impact of this reduces the overall return by circa 0.5%. In response to this, English 
Rural is in the process of introducing a new model and policies which look to increase the return on 
existing and new shared ownership properties.  
 
Another factor contributing towards the low performance is the fact that the majority of English Rural’s 
homes were built on Rural Exception Sites, with build costs significantly higher than average due to the 
need to put in place services and infrastructure, without a corresponding increase in rent that can be 
charged. Only a small proportion of homes were secured through Section 106 agreements on market-
led sites, where generally costs are lower due to any subsidy being included in the purchase costs. 
English Rural will continue to prioritise its delivery of Rural Exception Sites as these are important for 
achieving agreed purpose and business objectives. As a consequence, ROCE will likely remain below 
the median for the sector as a whole. 
 
Plans to meet strategic target: 
 

Amber 

Amber 

Amber 
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 Introduce new shared ownership lease model for new schemes and on re-sale. 
 
Other strategic Value for Money measures 
 
English Rural is committed to being transparent about the approach to securing Value for Money 
(VfM). Alongside publishing our individual VfM Statement and sector standard metrics annually, 
tailored VfM metrics have been developed around agreed business strategy and purpose. The actions 
to support delivery of VfM continues to make English Rural a more efficient and effective organisation, 
delivering additional outputs using the same or less resource. Importantly achieving this without 
compromising quality of services or our offer. 
 
An update on the bespoke VfM metrics established in 2018/19 is supplied below: 
 

 
Value to be delivered 
 

 
Target 

 
Starting position 

 
Gains 

Energy efficiency 
 
Reducing energy costs 
and tackling fuel poverty 
in rural areas to address 
the financial 
disadvantages already 
facing low income rural 
households. 

 
 
That 90% of 
rented homes will 
have an EPC 
band rating of C 
or above by 2024 
and all housing 
association stock 
will achieve at 
least EPC rating 
of C by 2030 
 
Ensure all new 
homes developed 
through the 
Business 
Strategy achieve 
an EPC rating of 
at least B. 

 
 
75% currently meet 
EPC rating of C or 
better. 

 
 

 78% now achieve EPC 
rating of C or better. 

 75% of second retrofit 
project replacing older style 
storage heaters with air 
source heat pumps 
completed 

 New property standard 
established as part of 
refreshed development 
strategy based on fabric-first 
principles. Baseline for 
property performance 
established as an EPC 
rating of B. 

Rural advocacy 
 
To generate direct 
benefits for rural 
communities and 
increase the supply of 
affordable rural homes 
through influencing rural 
policies at regional and 
national level. 
 

To increase the 
supply of 
affordable rural 
homes through 
policy influence; 
 
To work with 
smaller 
organisations 
through a paid for 
service to release 
otherwise 
dormant 
investment 
capacity into new 
affordable homes;  
 

No rural housing 
target from Homes 
England and 
investment in 
affordable rural 
homes 
(settlements of less 
than 3,000) 
delivers around 
10% of AHP. 
 
Actively working 
with three smaller 
providers to deliver 
more affordable 
rural homes, with a 
programme of 14 
new homes. 

 Figures discussed with 
Homes England shows 
Affordable Homes 
Programme (AHP) 
investment in affordable 
rural homes increased 
delivery to around 13% of 
the programme for 2019/20 
(10% 2018/19). 

 Current development 
partnerships with other HAs 
have 14 new affordable 
rural homes under 
construction and 17 as 
emerging in the 
development programme. 

 Partnership approach 
developed by English Rural 
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Value to be delivered 
 

 
Target 

 
Starting position 

 
Gains 

 
 

promoted as model to Rural 
Housing Alliance & NHF 
Smaller HA Group. 

 Communications Strategy 
agreed to support business 
ambitions. Notable gains on 
social media with 
impressions increasing 
190% during the year with 
social media channels 
generating just over half a 
million impressions. Social 
media followers also 
increase by 285%, with 
28% of all followers 
‘classified’ as politicians.   

Resident involvement 
 
Developing services to 
meet changing demands 
securing efficiencies 
through technology, 
whilst more vulnerable 
households. 
 
 

 
 
To keep overall 
satisfaction levels 
within the upper 
quartile for the 
sector; 
 
To launch an 
online resident 
portal; 
 
Pro-actively 
engage with staff 
to improve 
performance and 
skill base; 
 
To be more open 
and transparent 
and accountable 
in our service 
offering.  
 
 

 
 
Continued good 
levels of overall 
satisfaction with 
services provided. 
 
No online self-
service offer for 
residents. 
 
Updated stock 
condition data, but 
not articulated yet 
through a 
refreshed Asset 
Management 
Strategy. 
 
A sound approach 
to resident scrutiny, 
but one that could 
be developed in 
partnership with 
residents to be 
more open and 
accountable. 

 
 

 Adopter of the NHF 
Together with Tenants 
initiative. 

 Impact assessment of 
resident engagement 
completed, and new virtual 
channels successfully 
activated. 

 Resident satisfaction with 
repairs recorded annually 
as 96% (2018/19 93%); 

 Self-service portal 
successfully launched in 
December 2019 with 
around 24% residents 
signed-up by year end 
(target 50% within first 12 
months): 

 Visits to the website 
increased by 16% during 
the year. 

 New staff management 
approach initiated by year 
end that will identify and 
support staff training and 
skills. 80% of staff felt 
proud to work for English 
Rural and 95% would 
recommend to others as a 
place to work. 
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Governance Report 
 
Board Members and Executive Officers 
 
The present Board Members and Executive Officers are set out on page 1. The Board comprises up to 
twelve non-executive members and is responsible for the strategy and viability of the Association.  Board 
Members are drawn from a wide background bringing together professional, commercial and other 
relevant experience.  The Board met five times during the year for regular business to discuss strategy 
and related matters.  There are two governance committees, one dealing with audit and risk and the 
other with finance and resources, which each meet as required.  
 
All members of the Board hold one share of £1 each in the Association and no member had any interest 
in any contract or arrangement with the Association except for Tony MacArthur who is also a resident 
living in one of the Association’s homes. 
 

Board Responsibilities & Governance 
 
Governance framework 
 
As well as a broad range of skills and experience, the Board’s decisions are informed by the expertise 
and scrutiny provided by the executive team and committee structure. The Board and the committees 
are governed and supported by English Rural’s rules, standing orders and financial regulations that 
provide a formal, structured framework for decision-making. The Association’s rules are based on the 
2005 National Housing Federation Model for housing associations and were reviewed and adopted in 
2008, with regulatory approval. 
 
English Rural is committed to maintaining the highest standards of governance, accountability and 
probity, and seeks to comply fully with its adopted Code of Governance, that of the National Housing 
Federation (NHF) (2015).  A requirement of the regulatory framework is the reporting of any areas of 
non-compliance with the selected Code of Governance. There have been no areas of non-compliance 
during the year. The Board has considered the National Housing Federation’s voluntary code on 
Mergers, Group Structures and Partnerships and has adopted a version of the code tailored to the 
Association’s circumstances. 
 
This governance structure is supported by a comprehensive internal audit function and regulatory 
framework process. The executive team is responsible for the implementation of English Rural’s 
strategy. 
 
Compliance with the Governance and Financial Viability Standard 
 
The Association has reviewed the requirements of the Regulator’s Governance and Financial Viability 
Standard through these measures: 
 

 Adoption of the principal recommendations of the 2015 NHF revised Code of Governance 
and Code of Conduct (2012); 

 An effective Board committed to the principles of good governance, with regularly external 
appraisals to advise on and validate Board performance; 

 Annual succession, skill planning and training programme, ensuring the Board maintains 
the right level of skills and culture for the organisations type and business objectives; 

 Standing Orders establishing and delegating roles and responsibilities, which are reviewed 
annually by the Board; 

 A dynamic risk management framework with an agreed risk appetite and detailed risk map; 

 Decisions based on sound advice from the executive team and third-party experts; 
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 A long-term financial business plan supporting agreed Business Strategy that is robustly 
stress tested against likely scenarios and multiple perfect storm scenarios. With mitigating 
actions considered and understood; 

 Compliance with lender covenants with the Board monitoring compliance at each meeting; 

 Consideration of key performance measures, including compliance with health and safety 
requirements; 

 Sufficient liquidity to meet contractual commitments; 

 A robust annual budget setting process for both revenue and capital elements; 

 Sufficient capacity within agreed financial parameters to meet strategic ambitions, 
including growth by developing new affordable homes; 

 An effective system of internal controls which are continually tested by a programme of 
internal audit; 

 Control over the subsidiaries and high degree of understanding of subsidiary activities and 
their impact on the Group; 

 Regular reports from the executive team and third parties on compliance with RSH 
standards and timely submission of returns; 

 An asset and liability register compliant with the expectations of the Governance and 
Viability Standard; and 

 A fraud register reviewed annually by the Audit & Risk Committee. 
 
The Board was pleased to note that the Association’s Regulatory Assessments of G1 (for Governance) 
and V1 (for Financial Viability) were renewed during the year. This confirmed that English Rural 
continues to meet the requirements on governance and viability set out in the Governance and Financial 
Viability Standards and maintained the highest of the four available grades in both categories. 
 
Going concern 
 
Covid-19 - The Board has considered, and continues to review, the operational and financial impact of 
the Covid-19 pandemic on English Rural and its subsidiaries. The Board has implemented appropriate 
measures in response to the pandemic and has reviewed its financial business plans and stress tests, 
including potential financial impacts to its development, property maintenance and customer service 
obligations. Based on this review and on-going measures, the Board has determined there are no 
material going concern uncertainties arising as a result of the pandemic. The Board continues to review 
the Government and the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) advice, monitor sector publications on the 
potential impacts of the pandemic as well as to continue to closely monitor impacts on English Rural. 
 
The Association has sufficient resources (including £15m of undrawn committed facilities and £2.8m of 
cash as at 31 March 2020) to finance committed development programmes, along with the Association’s 
day to day operations. The Association also has a long-term financial forecast, which shows that it can 
service these debt facilities whilst continuing to comply with lenders’ covenants. 
 
On this basis, the Board has an expectation that the Association has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least twelve months after the date 
on which the report and financial statements are signed. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in the financial statements. 
 
Data protection & confidentiality 
The Board have approved a Data Protection & Confidentiality Policy which ensures that English Rural 
complies with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) effective from May 2018. This was also 
reviewed as part of the annual internal audit plan during the year. 
 
Appointment of external auditors 
A resolution to reappoint Mazars LLP for the coming year will be presented to the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. 
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Statement of the Board's Responsibilities in Respect of the Accounts 
 
The Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and registered social housing legislation 
require the Board to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of English Rural Housing Association Limited (“the Association”) and of the surplus 
or deficit for that period.  
 
 In preparing those financial statements, the Board is required to:-   
 

 select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

 state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Association will continue in business. 

 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Association and enable it to ensure that the Financial 
Statements comply with the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and the Accounting 
Direction for Social Housing in England from April 2015. The Association is a public benefit entity, as 
defined in FRS 102 and applies the relevant paragraphs prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 
 
The Board is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Association and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
Assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls 
 
The Board acknowledges its ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the Association has in place a 
system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.   
 
Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives and to provide reasonable assurance against material financial misstatement or loss.  The 
Association has an Audit and Risk Committee to assist and advise the Board in the audit and risk 
management processes. Key elements of the Committee’s role include ensuring that: 
 

 formal policies and procedures are in place, including the documentation of key systems and 
controls and a summary of delegated authorities, which ensures a strong control environment 
and enables the monitoring of these controls; 

 

 Robust strategic and business planning processes, with detailed financial budgets and forecasts 
are prepared which enable the Board to monitor the key business risks and financial objectives.  
Regular management accounts are prepared promptly, providing relevant, reliable and up-to-
date financial and other information.  Significant variances from budgets are investigated as 
appropriate; 

 

 all significant new initiatives, major commitments and investment projects are subject to formal 
authorisation procedures; 
 

 A sophisticated approach to treasury management, which is subject to external review each year; 
 

 Regular monitoring of loan covenants and requirements for new loan facilities; 
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 the Board reviews reports from the Executive Management Team, from the internal auditors and 
the external auditors with a view to obtaining reasonable assurance that control procedures are 
in place and are being followed; 
 

 Board approved fraud policies, covering prevention, detection and reporting, together with 
recoverability of assets; 
 

 Clearly defined management responsibilities for the identification, evaluation and control of 
significant risks; and 

 

 weaknesses identified from the above reports are discussed with management and addressed 
by the Board. 

 
The Board has reviewed, on an ongoing basis with the external auditor the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control in existence at the Association for the year ended 31st March 2020 and until the date 
of approval of the annual Financial Statements. No weaknesses were found in internal financial controls 
that resulted in material losses, contingencies or uncertainties that require disclosure in the Financial 
Statements or in the auditor’s report on the Financial Statements. 
 
So far as each of the directors at the time the report is approved are aware: a) there is no relevant audit 
information of which the auditors are unaware and, b) that they have taken all the steps they ought to 
have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors 
are aware of that information. 
 
The Board has received an annual report from the Association’s Executive Team and Audit & Risk 
Committee confirming they have reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control throughout 
this year and have taken account of any changes needed to maintain the effectiveness of the risk 
management and control processes. This Board Report was approved on 8th July 2020 and signed on 
its behalf by order of the Board: 
 
Vice-Chairman     
   
 
 
 
 
_____________________     
 
Date:  
 
  

Nicholas J Way (Jul 9, 2020 14:09 GMT+1)
Nicholas J Way

Jul 9, 2020

https://adobecancelledaccountschannel.eu1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAG-MHDN0pFgF6vyKIkDIn4PkCuAfBSQql
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of English Rural Housing Association 
Limited 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of English Rural Housing Association (the ‘parent association’) and its 
subsidiary (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2020 which comprise the Group and the parent association’s 
Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Group and the parent association’s Statements of Financial Position, 
the Group and the parent association’s Statements of Changes in Reserves, the Group Statement of Cash Flows 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
  
In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent association’s affairs as at 31 March 2020 
and of the group’s and the parent association’s surplus for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014, the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969, the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 
2019. 

  
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the association in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
  
Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report 
to you where: 
  

 the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or 

 the Board has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the group’s or the parent association’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

  
Emphasis of matter - impact of the outbreak of COVID-19 on the financial statements 
In forming our opinion on the Group and association financial statements, which is not modified, we draw your 
attention to the Boards’ view on the impact of the COVID-19 as disclosed on page 12, and the consideration in the 
going concern basis of preparation on page 24. 
 
During the latter part of the financial year, there has been a global pandemic from the outbreak of COVID-19. The 
potential impact of COVID-19 became significant in March 2020 and is causing widespread disruption to normal 
patterns of business activity across the world, including the UK. 
 
The impact of COVID-19 is still evolving and, based on the information available at this point in time, the Board 
have assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the group and Association and reflected the Boards’ conclusion that 
adopting the going concern basis for preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
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Other information 
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. 
  
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
  

 the parent association has not kept proper books of account; or 

 a satisfactory system of control over transactions has not been maintained; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the books of account; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Board’s responsibilities set out on page 25, the Board is responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for 
such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
  
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent 
association’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board either intends to liquidate the group or the parent 
association or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
  
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
  
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK). Those standards require us to comply with the Financial Reporting 
Council’s Ethical Standard.  
  
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 
 
Use of the audit report 
This report is made solely to the association’s members as a body in accordance with Part 7 of the Co-operative 
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and Chapter 4 of Part 2 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the association’s members those matters we are 
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required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the association and the association’s members as a 
body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mazars LLP  45 Church Street 
Chartered Accountants and  Birmingham 
Statutory Auditor  B3 2RT   

 
 

 
 

  

Vincent Marke (Jul 24, 2020 13:02 GMT+1)

Jul 24, 2020

https://mazars.eu1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAG-MHDN0pFgF6vyKIkDIn4PkCuAfBSQql


Page 30 

 

ENGLISH RURAL HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

GROUP AND ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 

       
    Group  Association 
   

 
Notes 

 
 

      2020 

   
        2019 
Restated 

  
 

2020 

  
 

2019 
Restated 

   £000   £000  £000  £000 
           
Turnover  3 6,828   5,639  6,639  5,645 
           
Cost of sales  3 (618)   -  (566)  - 
           
Operating expenditure  3 (4,399)   (4,189)  (4,421)  (4,187) 

           

Operating surplus   1,811   1,450  1,652  1,458 

           
Gain on acquisition   25 2,639   -           -     - 
           
Interest receivable and similar income  5 14   33  29  34 
           
Interest payable and similar charges  6 (1,131)       (1,193)  (1,127)    (1,193) 

           

Surplus before tax  8 3,333   290  554  299 

           
Taxation  9 -   -  -              - 

          

 
  

 

Surplus for the year after tax   3,333   290  554  299 
           

           

           

Other comprehensive income:           

           

Initial recognition of multi-employer 
defined benefit scheme (SHPS) 

 20 -   (81)  -  (81) 

           

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of 
pension scheme 
 

 20 130   (56)  130  (56) 

Total comprehensive income for the 
financial year 

  3,463   153  684  162 
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GROUP AND ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 

   Group  Association 
   

 
Notes 

 
 

Revenue 
reserves 

  
 

Total  

  
 

Revenue 
reserves 

  
 

Total  

   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Balance at 1 April 2019 (Restated)   13,406  13,406  13,415  13,415 

Surplus from statement of 
comprehensive income for the year 

   
3,333 

  
3,333 

  
554 

  
554 

 
Other comprehensive income: 

         

Actuarial gain on pensions:          

Actuarial gain in respect of pension 
scheme 

 20 130  130  130  130 

          
Balance as at 31 March 2020   16,869  16,869  14,099  14,099 

          

 
   Group  Association 
   

 
Notes 

 
 

Revenue 
reserves 
Restated 

  
 

Total  

  
 

Revenue 
reserves 
Restated 

  
 

Total  

   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Balance at 1 April 2018   13,253  13,253  13,253  13,253 

Surplus from statement of 
comprehensive income for the year 

   
290 

  
290 

  
299 

  
299 

          

Other comprehensive income:   -  -  -  - 

Actuarial loss on pensions:          

Initial recognition of multi- 
Employer defined benefit scheme 
SHPS) 
 

 20 (81)  (81)  (81)  (81) 

Actuarial loss in respect of pension 
scheme 

 20 (56)  (56)  (56)  (56) 

          
Balance as at 31 March 2019 
(Restated) 

  13,406  13,406  13,415  13,415 

          

All activities reported above, both in the current year and preceding year, relate to continuing activities. 
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GROUP AND ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 31st March 2020 

   Group  Association 
          
   2020  2019 

Restated 
 2020  2019 

Restated 
Fixed assets Notes  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
 
Social housing properties 

 
10 

  
87,793 

  
81,185 

  
85,190 

  
81,185 

Office equipment and leasehold 
improvements  

 
11 

  
   66 

 
 

 
28 

  
66 

  
28 

Financial assets 26  396  390  396  390 

   88,255  81,603  85,652   81,603 

Current assets          
          
Stock 12  1,128  599  283  283 
Long-term intercompany debtor 13  -  -  724  213 
Trade and other debtors 13  352  718  435  765 
Cash and cash equivalents   2,444  3,337  1,521  3,336 

    3,924  4,654  2,963  4,597 
Less: Creditors: amounts 
falling due within one year 

 
14 

 
(2,483) 

 
(2,745) 

  
(2,444) 

  
(2,679) 

          
          
Net current assets   1,441  1,909  519  1,918 

 
Total assets less current 
liabilities 

  
89,696 

 
83,512 

  
86,171 

  
83,521 

 
          
Creditors: amounts falling due 
after more than one year 

 
15 

 
(72,827) 

 
(70,106) 

  
(72,072) 

  
(70,106) 

Total net assets   
 16,869  13,406 

 
14,099 

 
13,415 

          
Capital and reserves          
          
Non-equity share capital  16  -  -  -  - 
Revenue Reserve   16,869  13,406  14,099  13,415 

   16,869    13,406  14,099    13,415 

 
These financial statements were approved by the Board on 8th July 2020 and signed on its behalf by: 

 
 

______________________________ 
Nick Way (Vice-Chairman) 

 
______________________________ 

Sue Reekie (Board Member) 
 

______________________________ 
Karen Eagles (Company Secretary) 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 

Nicholas J Way (Jul 9, 2020 14:09 GMT+1)
Nicholas J Way

S. Reekie (Jul 9, 2020 18:22 GMT+1)
S. Reekie

K Eagles (Jul 9, 2020 18:34 GMT+1)
K Eagles

https://adobecancelledaccountschannel.eu1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAG-MHDN0pFgF6vyKIkDIn4PkCuAfBSQql
https://mazars.eu1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAG-MHDN0pFgF6vyKIkDIn4PkCuAfBSQql
https://eu1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAG-MHDN0pFgF6vyKIkDIn4PkCuAfBSQql
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GROUP AND ASSOCIATION STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the year ended 31st March 2020 

   Group  Association 
  

 
Notes 

  
 

2020 

  
 

2019 
Restated 

 

  
 

2020 

  
 

2019 
Restated 

   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Net cash generated from operating 
activities 

 
 

19 

 

2,514 

 

   2,211 

  
 

2,891 

  
 

2,422 

          
Cash flow from investing activities          
          
Property expenditure   (5,739)  (4,241)    (5,736)     (4,241) 
Capital grants received   654  575  654  575 
Office equipment purchases   (61)  (11)  (61)  (11) 
Investment in subsidiary   -  -  (511)  (213) 
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed 
assets 

  -  -  -  - 

Cash gained on acquisition   811  -  -  - 
Interest received   8  33  6  33 

   (4,327)  (3,644)  (5,648)  (3,857) 

          
Cash flow from financing activities  
 

         

Finance charges   (1,273)  (1,310)  (1,259)  (1,309) 
Loan issue costs   (16)  (78)  (16)  (78) 
Loans received   3,000  -  3,000  - 
Loans repaid   (791)  (958)  (784)  (958) 
Proceeds from issue of shares   -  -    - 

    920  (2,346)  941  (2,345) 

          
Net change in cash and cash 
equivalents 

  
 

 
(893) 

  
(3,779) 

  
(1,816) 

  
(3,780) 

          

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year 

   
3,337 

  
   7,116 

  
3,337 

  
7,116 

          

Cash and cash equivalents at end 
of year 

   
2,444 

  
3,337 

  
1,521 

  
3,336 

          
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
for the year ended 31st March 2020 

 
1. Legal status 
 

The Association is registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 and is also registered with the Regulator of Social Housing as a Registered Provider 
as defined by the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008. 

  
2. Principal Accounting Policies 
 

(a)  Basis of accounting 
 

The financial statements of the Association are prepared on an historical cost basis and 
are in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and the Housing SORP 2018: Statement of 
Recommended Practice for Registered Social Housing Providers and comply with the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019.  The 
Association is a public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102 and applies the relevant 
paragraphs prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102.  The Board is satisfied that the current accounting 
policies are the most appropriate for the Association. 
 

(b)  Basis of consolidation  
 

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Association 
and its subsidiaries, ER Homes Limited and New Forest Villages Housing Association 
Limited, drawn up to 31 March each year. 
 

(c)  Going concern 
 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis after 
consideration of the future prospects of the Association and the preparation of long-term 
financial forecasts and plans which include an assessment of the availability of funding 
and the certainty of cash flow from rental of social housing stock. 
 

 (d)  Accounting judgements and estimations 
 
  Significant management judgements 

 
The following are the significant management judgements made in applying the 
accounting policies of the Group that have the most significant effect on the financial 
statements: 
 
Capitalisation of property development costs – a judgement is made as to the appropriate 
amount and timing to charge direct development staff costs to development schemes in 
progress. The total amount of development salaries and associated on costs capitalised 
in the year was £209,000 (2019: £172,000). 
 
Impairment - housing properties are annually assessed for impairment indicators. Where 
indicators are identified an assessment for impairment is undertaken comparing the 
asset's carrying amount to its recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset 
is deemed to exceed its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable 
amount. The resulting impairment loss is recognised as expenditure in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
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Allocation of costs – The appropriate allocation of costs for mixed tenure developments, 
and furthermore the allocation of costs relating to shared ownership between current and 
fixed assets. 
 
Estimation uncertainty 
 
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided 
below. Actual results may be substantially different. 
 
Useful lives of depreciable assets - judgements have been made in determining the main 
components and useful lives of property, plant and equipment for depreciation purposes. 
Details are provided in note (g) – Housing properties and depreciation. 
 
Rental and other trade receivables - Estimations have been made internally regarding the 
recoverable amount of rental and other trade receivables.  
 
Contingent liability - the Association’s possible obligation to pay money to the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS), were the last active member of the scheme to leave 
pensionable employment, has been estimated by the Scheme’s actuary. This calculation 
includes estimations of life expectancy, salary growth, discount rates and inflation. 
 
Pension liability - The Association’s share of net liabilities for the Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS) is based on a number of assumptions which are set out in note 20. A 
decrease in the discount rate of 0.1% would increase the liability by around £19,000. 
Adding one year to life expectancy would increase the liability by around £19,000. 
 

(e)  Turnover and revenue recognition 
 

Turnover represents rental income receivable, amortised capital grant, income from the 
sale of shared ownership and other properties developed for outright sale and other 
income and are recognised in relation to the period when the goods or services have 
been supplied. Rental income is recognised when the property is available for let. Income 
from property sales is recognised on legal completion. Sales of properties developed for 
outright sale are included in Turnover and Cost of Sales. 
 

(f)  Service charges 
 

Service charge income and costs are recognised on an accruals basis. The Association 
operates variable service charges on a scheme by scheme basis in full consultation with 
residents. The charges will include an allowance for the surplus or deficit from prior years, 
with the surplus being returned to residents by a reduced charge and a deficit being 
recovered by a higher charge. Where periodic expenditure is required a provision may be 
built up over the years, in consultation with the residents; until these costs are incurred 
this liability is held in the Statement of Financial Position within current creditors. 

 
(g) Housing properties and depreciation 
 

In accordance with SORP 2018, the Association operates a full component accounting 
policy in relation to the capitalisation and depreciation of its completed housing stock. 
Housing properties (in development and completed) are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Staff costs and overheads which 
are directly attributable to bringing housing properties into working condition for their 
intended use are capitalised. Interest incurred during the development phase is 
capitalised rather than expensed to the statement of comprehensive income. 
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Housing properties are split between land, structure and major components which require 
periodic replacement. Replacement or refurbishment of such major components is 
capitalised and depreciated over their estimated useful lives which have been set taking 
into account professional advice. Freehold land is not subject to depreciation. 
 
Major components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their expected 
useful economic lives at the following rates: 
 
          Economic Life 
      (years) 
Land           n/a 
Bathrooms          30  
Heating systems              15 -20  
Kitchens          20  
Electrics          40  
Mechanical Systems        30  
Roofs          70  
Structure                  100  
Windows and doors               20-25  
 
Housing assets are depreciated from the month of acquisition, or in the case of a larger 
project, from the month of completion. Where there is evidence of impairment, the fixed 
assets are written down to the fair value after deducting costs to sell, and any write down 
is charged to operating surplus. 
 
Housing properties in the course of construction are held at cost and not depreciated. 
They are transferred to completed properties when handed over for letting or sale. 
 
Any surplus arising on first tranche sales of shared ownership properties are restricted to 
the “overall surplus” which is defined as the difference between the net present value of 
cash flows and cost. The Association charges a rent on the retained percentage of the 
property. Therefore, the net cost allocated to first tranche sale is the balance after allowing 
for the proportion of the property that is expected to be retained by the Association.   
 

 (h) Office equipment and leasehold improvements 
 

Office Equipment is depreciated over 3 years and leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the term of the lease of 10 years. 

 
 (i) Government and other grants 

 
Social housing grant (SHG), receivable from Homes England, and other capital grants 
are recognised in income over the expected useful life of the housing property structure 
under the accruals model.  
 
SHG must be recycled by the Association under certain conditions, if a property is sold, 
or if another relevant event takes place. In these cases, the SHG can be used for projects 
approved by Homes England. However, SHG may have to be repaid if certain conditions 
are not met. If grant is not required to be recycled or repaid, any unamortised grant is 
recognised as Turnover. In certain circumstances, SHG may be repayable, and, in that 
event, is a subordinated unsecured repayable debt. 
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(j) Financial instruments 
 

The Association has determined that its financial instruments meet the criteria of a basic 
financial instrument as defined in Section 11 of FRS 102 are accounted for under an 
amortised historical cost model. This includes loans where there are two-way breakage 
cost clauses as part of the terms of the loan agreement. 
 

 (k) Properties held for disposal 
 

Where the Association has identified properties to be sold within the short term, they have 
been transferred to current assets. 
 

 (l) Works to existing properties 
 
Where a major component of a housing property is replaced or restored, the works are 
capitalised. All other costs of works to existing properties are charged to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. 
 

 (m) Taxation 
 
The Association is accepted as a charity by the HMRC. Income and capital gains of the 
Association are generally exempt from tax if applied for charitable purposes. 
There is no provision required for deferred tax. 
 

 (n) Value added tax 
 

The Association is registered for VAT and accordingly, where specifically applicable, 
expenditure incurred in selling shared ownership schemes is shown net of VAT.  All other 
expenditure is shown inclusive of VAT. 
 

 (o) Apportionment of management expenses 
 

Management expenses are allocated to activities either directly or on the basis of 
estimated staff time spent on the activity.  
 

  (p) Pension costs 
 
 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 
 
 The Association’s participates in the Pension Trust Social Housing Pension Scheme 

(SHPS Scheme), a multi-employer defined benefit scheme now closed to new members. 
The actuary to the SHPS Scheme has provided sufficient information to allow the 
Association to identify their share of scheme assets and these are included in the 
Statement of Financial Position and the expected cost of pensions is charged to the 
Statement of Total Comprehensive Income. the liability for the benefits earned by 
employees in return for service rendered in the current and prior periods is determined 
using the projected unit credit method as determined annually by qualified actuaries. This 
is based upon a number of assumptions, the determination of which is significant to the 
valuation.  

 
 The following are charged to operating profit: 
 

  • the net finance expense measured using the discount rate applied in measuring the  
defined benefit obligation;  
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 • the increase in the present value of pension scheme liabilities arising from employee  
service in the current period (current service cost); 

 
  • the increase in the present value of pension scheme liabilities as a result of benefit 

improvements over the period during which such improvements vest (past service 
cost); 

 
  • gains and losses arising on settlements/curtailments; and 
 
  • scheme administration costs.  
 
 Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in other comprehensive income in the 

period in which they occur. 
 
 Full details of the pension scheme’s financial position are set out in notes 20 and 21. 
 
 Defined Contribution Schemes  
 
 The Association also participates in the SHPS Scheme defined contribution money 

purchase pension scheme which is open to new members and a Scottish Widows defined 
contribution money purchase pension schemes which is now closed to new members. In 
respect of the defined contribution schemes, employers’ contributions are charged to the 
Statement of Total Comprehensive Income in the year incurred. 

 
 (r) Holiday pay accrual 

 
 A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused holiday pay entitlement which has 

accrued at the balance sheet date and carried forward to future periods. This is measured 
at the undiscounted salary cost of the future holiday entitlement so accrued at the balance 
sheet date.
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3.  PARTICULARS OF TURNOVER, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS - GROUP 
 
 
 Note -------------------------------- 2020 --------------------------  -------------------------------- 2019 ------------------------------ 

 
   

Turnover 
Cost of 
sales 

Operating 
costs 

Operating 
surplus/ 
(deficit) 

  
Turnover 

Cost of 
sales 

Operating 
costs 

Operating 
surplus/ 
(deficit) 

  £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 
Social Housing Lettings:    4          

General needs housing 
 

5,456 - (3,774) 1,682 
 

5,162 - (3,505) 1,657 

Shared ownership accommodation 
 

347 - (497) (150) 
 

343 - (500) (157) 

  
5,803 - (4,271) 1,532 

 
5,505 - (4,005) 1,500 

           
Other Social Housing Activities:           

1st tranche shared ownership sales 
 

421 (283) (6) 132  - - - - 

Discounted local sales  
356 (283) - 73  - - - - 

Other income  
78 - (29) 49  134 - (129) 5 

Abortive development costs  
- - (65) (65)  - - - - 

Non-capitalised development costs  - - (21) (21)  
- - (52) (52) 

Non-Social Housing Activities:       
    

Market Sale – ER Homes Limited  170 (52) (7) 111 
 

- - (3) (3) 

 
 

1,025 
 

(618) (128) 279  134 - (184) (50) 

  6,828 (618) (4,399) 1,811  5,639 - (4,189) 1,450 
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3.  PARTICULARS OF TURNOVER, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS - ASSOCIATION 
 
 
 Note -------------------------------- 2020 -------------------------------  -------------------------------- 2019 -------------------------------- 

 
   

Turnover 
Cost of 
sales 

Operating 
costs 

Operating 
Surplus/ 
(deficit) 

  
Turnover 

Cost of 
sales 

Operating 
costs 

Operating 
Surplus/ 
(deficit) 

  £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 
Social Housing Lettings:    4          

General needs housing 
 

5,319 - (3,673) 1,646 
 

5,162 - (3,505) 1,657 

Shared ownership accommodation 
 

347 - (497) (150) 
 

343 - (500) (157) 

  
5,666 - (4,170) 1,496 

 
5,505 - (4,005) 1,500 

           
Other Social Housing Activities:           

1st tranche shared ownership sales 
 

421 (283) (6) 132  - - - - 

Discounted local sales  356 (283) - 73  - - - - 

Other income  
196 - (159) 37  140 - (129) 11 

Abortive development costs  
- - (65) (65)  - - - - 

Non-capitalised development costs  - - (21) (21)  
- -         (53) (53) 

  973 (566) (251) 156  140 - (182) (42) 

  6,639 (566) (4,421) 1,652  5,645 - (4,187)  1,458 
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4.  PARTICULARS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE FROM SOCIAL HOUSING LETTINGS – GROUP  
 
 
 
 

--------------------------- 2020-----------------------------  ---------------------------- 2019 ---------------------------- 

 General 
Needs 

Housing 

Shared 
Ownership 

Accommodation 

 
 

Total 

 General 
Needs 

Housing 

Shared 
Ownership 

Accommodation 

 
 

Total 
 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 
Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges 4,953 185 5,138  4,692 175 4,867 
Service charges receivable 165 60 225  143 66 209 
Grants released from deferred income 338 102 440  327 102 429 

Turnover from Social Housing Lettings 5,456 347 5,803  5,162 343 5,505 

Housing Management 700 191 891  664 194 858 

Housing services 355 195 550  343 197 540 

Routine maintenance 546 - 546  529 - 529 

Planned maintenance 387 - 387  329 - 329 

Major repairs  407 - 407  301 - 301 

Bad debts 1 - 1  6 - 6 

Depreciation of housing properties 1,378 111 1,489  1,332 110 1,442 

Operating costs on social housing lettings 3,774 497 4,271  3,504 501 4,005 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 1,682 (150) 1,532  1,658 (158) 1,500 

Void Losses 32 - 32  32 - 32 
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4. PARTICULARS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE FROM SOCIAL HOUSING LETTINGS – ASSOCIATION 
 
 
 
 

--------------------------- 2020-----------------------------  ---------------------------- 2019 ---------------------------- 

 General 
Needs 

Housing 

Shared 
Ownership 

Accommodation 

 
 

Total 

 General 
Needs 

Housing 

Shared 
Ownership 

Accommodation 

 
 

Total 
 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 
Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges 4,824 185 5,009  4,692 175 4,867 
Service charges receivable 157 60 217  143 66 209 
Grants released from deferred income 338 102 440  327 102 429 

Turnover from Social Housing Lettings 5,319 347 5,666  5,162 343 5,505 

Housing Management 661 191 852  664 194 858 

Housing services 340 195 535  343 197 540 

Routine maintenance 527 - 527  529 - 529 

Planned maintenance 380 - 380  329 - 329 

Major repairs  403 - 403  301 - 301 

Bad debts 3 - 3  6 - 6 

Depreciation of housing properties 1,359 111 1,470  1,332 110 1,442 

Operating costs on social housing lettings 3,673 497 4,170  3,504 501 4,005 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 1,646 (150) 1,496  1,658 (158) 1,500 

Void Losses 32 - 32  32 - 32 
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5. INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME 
 

      Group        Association 

 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 £000  £000  £000  £000 
Interest Receivable on Bank Deposit 
Accounts 

14  33 
 

29  34 

        

6. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES 
 

 Group  Association 
 

 2020 2019 
Restated 

2020 2019 
Restated 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 
        

Interest on loans  1,174  1,183  1,161  1,183 

Non-Utilisation Fees 130  116  130  116 

Amortisation of loan issue costs & bond 
proceeds premium  

 
(1) 

  
(10) 

  
(1) 

  
   (10) 

Fair value amortisation Orchardrook (9)  -  -  - 

Net interest charge pension scheme 6  5  6  5 

Interest capitalised (169)  (102)  (169)  (102) 

        

 1,131  1,192  1,127  1,192 
 

7. EMOLUMENTS AND EXPENSES 
 

a) Directors’ Emoluments and Expenses 
  2020 2019 
  £000 £000 
 
Total Emoluments 

  
330 

 
429 

Emoluments of highest paid director 
excluding pension contribution 

  
120 

 
125 

The Chief Executive has a stakeholder 
pension plan. The total contribution 
amounts to 9% of pensionable salary, 
amounting to £10,218. 

   

Total expenses reimbursed to the 
directors and not chargeable to United 
Kingdom taxation 

 12 10 

   
No. 

 
No. 

The full-time equivalent number of staff 
whose remuneration fell within each band 
of £10,000 from £60,000 upwards was: 
£130,000 - £139,999 
£120,000 - £129,999 
£110,000 - £119,999 
£100,000 - £109,999 
£  90,000 -  £ 99,999 
£  80,000 -  £ 89,999 
£  70,000 -  £ 79,999 
£  60,000 -  £ 69,999 

  
 
 

- 
1 
1 
- 
1 
- 
- 
3 

 
 
 

1 
- 
- 
1 
2 
- 
- 
3 
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Group and Association 
       

     2020     2019 
 

 
b) Employee Costs 

 £000     £000 

Salaries     1,051   992 
Social security 
costs  

    
114 

  
110 

Pension costs      144   134 
Less: capitalised 
staff costs 

    
(209) 

  
(172) 

     1,100   1,064 

 
Average weekly 
number of employees 
(expressed as full-time 
equivalent and 
including the Executive 
Management Team)  

    
 

22 

   
 

20 

 
 
    

8. SURPLUS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION 
 
 The surplus on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after charging: 
 

 Group  Association 
        
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 £000  £000  £000  £000 

Auditor’s remuneration 
including VAT: 

       

     In their capacity as auditors  21  13  13  11 
     For other services 3  -  1  - 
Depreciation:        
  Housing Properties 1,489  1,442  1,470  1,442 
  Office Equipment and   

leasehold improvements 
22  23  22  23 

        
        
        

 
9. TAXATION 
 

English Rural Housing Association Limited and New Forest Villages Housing Association Limited 
are exempt charities registered with the Regulator for Social Housing and are exempt from liability 
to taxation on its income and capital gains. 
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10. FIXED ASSETS (PROPERTIES) – GROUP  

   
Completed 
Properties 
for Letting 

Completed 
Shared 
Owned 

Properties 

 
Properties 

in 
Development 

 
 
 

Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost     

At 1st April 2019 (Restated) 78,622 11,106 5,519 95,247 
Additions: new properties - - 5,665 5,665 
Works to existing properties 569 - (126) 443 
Components written off (91) -  (91) 
Acquisition – New Forest Villages HA at cost 3,647 -  3,647 
Fair Value Adjustment - Acquisition (1,029) -  (1,029) 
Aborted development scheme costs - - (63) (63) 
Transferred to completed schemes 5,473 - (5,473) - 
Transferred from (to) current assets (Note 12) - - (566) (566) 

At 31st March 2020 87,191 11,106 4,956 103,253 

     

Depreciation     

At 1st April 2019 12,502 1,560 - 14,062 
Charge for year 1,378 111 - 1,489 
Acquisition – New Forest Villages HA at cost 944 - - 944 
Fair Value Adjustment - Acquisition (944) - - (944) 
Released on disposal (91) - - (91) 

At 31st March 2020 13,789 1,671 - 15,460 

Net Book Value      

At 31st March 2020 73,402 9,435 4,956 87,793 

     

At 31st March 2019 (Restated) 66,120 9,546 5,519 81,185 

     

10.    FIXED ASSETS (PROPERTIES) – ASSOCIATION 
   

Completed 
Properties 
for Letting 

Completed 
Shared 
Owned 

Properties 

 
Properties 

in 
Development 

 
 
 

Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost     

At 1st April 2019 (Restated) 78,622 11,106 5,519 95,247 
Additions: new properties - - 5,665 5,665 
Works to existing properties 565 - (126) 439 
Components written off (89) - - (89) 
Aborted development scheme costs - - (63) (63) 
Transferred to completed schemes 5,473 - (5,473) - 
Transferred from current assets (Note 12) - - (566) (566) 

At 31st March 2020 84,571 11,106 4,956 100,633 

     

Depreciation     

At 1st April 2019 12,502 1,560 - 14,062 
Charge for year 1,359 111 - 1,470 
Released on disposal (89) - - (89) 

At 31st March 2020 13,772 1,671 - 15,443 

Net Book Value      

At 31st March 2020 70,799 9,435 4,956 85,190 

     

At 31st March 2019 (Restated) 66,120 9,546 5,519 81,185 
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11. OTHER FIXED ASSETS – GROUP AND ASSOCIATION 
 

  Leasehold 
Offices 

Office 
Equipment 

Computer 
Software 

Total 

 
Cost 

 £000 £000 
 

£000 £000 

At 1st April 2019  - 61 13 74 
Written off in year  - - - - 
Additions at Cost  40 6 14 60 

At 31st March 2020  40 67 27 134 

      
Depreciation      
At 1st April 2019  - 43 3 46 
Written off in year  - - - - 
Charged in year  1 15 6 22 

At 31st March 2020  1 58 9 68 

 
Net book value 

     

At 31st March 2020  39 9 18 66 

      

At 31st March 2019  - 18 10 28 

 
12. STOCK 

  Group  Association 
   

2020 
  

2019 
  

2020 
  

2019 
  £000  £000  £000  £000 
At 1st April   599  -  283  - 
Expenditure during the year  1,148  708  566  392 
Transferred to fixed assets (Note 10)  -  (109)  -  (109) 
Transferred to cost of sales  (619)    (566)   

At 31st March   1,128  599  283  283 

 
13. DEBTORS 

 Group  Association 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 
Trade and other debtors: £000  £000  £000  £000 
 
Arrears of rent and service charges 

 
129 

  
 95  

  
121 

  
 95  

Provision for doubtful debts (31)   (28)  (31)   (28) 

 98  67  90  67 
Legal fees due from tenants 6  -  6  - 
Recharges-tenants  27  31  26  31 
Other recharges 11  111  11  111 
Amounts due from subsidiaries -  -  92  47 
Insurance recharges -    -  - 
Capital grant due -  307  -  307 
VAT recoverable 1  (11)  1  (11) 
Deposit for highway works 89  88  89  88 
Sundry debtors and prepayments 120  125  120  125 

 352  718  435  765 

        
Long-term debtors:        
        
Inter-company loan -  -  724  213 

 -  -  724  213 
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14. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR 
 

 Group  Association 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 

 
Sinking fund 

 
615 

  
562 

  
615 

  
562 

Other creditors and accruals 551  638  617  685 
Recycled capital grant fund (see below) -  33  -  33 
Employee benefits – annual leave 
carried forward 

30  18  30  18 

Deferred income – capital grants 445  436  445  436 
Building retentions 164  134  164  135 
Building creditors 316  568  227  454 
Housing loans 362  356  346  356 

 2,483  2,745  2,444  2,679 

   
     Recycled Capital Grant Fund: 

   Group and Association 

   2020       2019 

 
 
As at 1 April 

  £000 
 

33 

 £000 
 

33 
Grants recycled     (33)  - 
Interest accrued   -  - 

As at 31 March   -  33 

 

15.   CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR 

 Group  Association 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 

Housing loans  34,536  31,572  33,781  31,572 

Deferred income –  
capital grants 

38,180  38,283  38,180  38,283 

Pension provision 
(Note 20) 

111  251  111  251 

 72,827  70,106  72,072  70,106 

  
        Housing Loans  

Borrowings are repayable as follows:   

 Group  Association 

 2020  2019  2020  2019  

 £000  £000     £000  £000 

Due in less than 1 year  362  356  346  356 

Due between 1 and 2 years 346  356  346  356 

Due between 2 and 5 years 2,254  1,490  2,254  1,490 

Due after 5 years 31,936  29,726  31,181  29,726 

Due after more than 1 year 34,536       31,572  33,781  31,572 

Total 34,898  31,928  34,127  31,928 
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 Housing Loans (continued) 

 
The loan facilities are provided by four funders and a bond issue through the Government’s 
Affordable Housing Guarantee Scheme (AHF Loan), the funders being Santander, Barclays, 
Orchardbrook and Triodos. Loan interest rates range from 1.85% to 11.50% per annum (2019: 
1.85% to 11.50%). The average rate achieved over the year was 3.74% (2019: 3.81%). Interest 
on housing loans is charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the year that it is 
incurred unless capitalised to development schemes still to complete. The housing loans are 
secured by first fixed charges over the Association’s housing properties. The total undrawn loan 
facilities at 31 March 2020 were £15.1m (2019: £18.0m). Issue costs were incurred for the Triodos 
Bank, Santander and AHF loans and are amortised to the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
Loan balances were as follows: 
 
  Group  Association 

  2020  2019  2020  2019 

  £000  £000  £000  £000 

Debt by Lender:         

Barclays Bank  4,876  5,266  4,876  5,266 
Triodos Bank   18,160  15,553  18,160  15,553 
AHF plc  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000 
Orchardbrook  304  30  30  30 

Total debt  33,340  30,849  33,066  30,849 
         
Related amounts:         
Premium on AHF loan  1,429  1,475  1,429  1,475 
Fair value on 
Orchardbrook loans 

 
557  60 

 
60 

 
60 

Issue costs  (428)  (456)  (428)  (456) 

Total  34,898  31,928  34,127  31,928 

 
The loan balance against AHF plc is shown as the £10m nominal amount borrowed. The 
unamortised excess proceeds to date are shown separately against “premium on AHF loan”. 
 
Deferred income – capital grants  
  Group  Association 
 
Capital grants received 

 £000  £000 

At 1st April 2019  44,318  44,318 
Grant received during the year  313  313 
Grant recycled during the year  33  33 

At 31st March 2020  44,664  44,664 

     
Less grant amortisation     
     
At 1st April 2019  5,599  5,599 
     
Grant amortised for year  440  440 

At 31st March 2020  6,039  6,039 

     

Net deferred income at 31st March 2020  38,625  38,625 

     
 

Net deferred income at 31st March 2019  38,719  38,719 
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 Group  Association 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 £000  £000  £000  £000 
Amount due to be released 
in less than one year 445 

 
436 

 
445 

 
436 

Amount due to be released 
in more than one year 38,180 

 
38,283 

 
38,180 

 
38,283 

 38,625  38,719  38,625  38,719 

 

16. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL 
 Group        Association 
 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 £  £  £  £ 
Shares of £1 each – allotted, 
issued and fully paid at 31st March 
2019 

 
49 

  
48 

  
49 

 
 

 
48 

Issued during the year 2  1  2  1 
Cancelled during the year -    -  -  - 

Shares of £1 each – allotted, 
issued and fully paid at 31st March 
2020 

 
51 

  
49 

  
51 

  
49 

        
The shares provide Members with the right to vote at General Meeting, but they do not provide 
any rights to dividends or distributions, if the Association is wound up or dissolved.  When a 
shareholder ceases to be a shareholder, his or her share shall be cancelled.  The amount paid 
up becomes the property of the Association. Under Financial Reporting Standard 102, the 
Association’s share capital falls under the description ‘non-equity’. 
 

 

17. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
 Group         Association 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 
 £000  £000  £000  £000 
Capital expenditure that has 
been contracted for but has not 
been provided for in the 
Financial Statements 

1,602 

 

4,749 

  
1,334 

  
4,395 

 
Capital expenditure that has 
been authorised by the Board 
but has not yet been contracted 
for 

16,319 

 

9,504 

  
 

11,587 

  
 

6,705 

Total 17,921  14,253  12,921  11,100 

Proposed financing of above 
expenditure: 

   
    

     Grants 3,058  2,082 
 

3,058 
 

2,082 

     Other Subsidy 282  239 
 

282 
 

239 

     Loans & Cash 6,988  6,277 
 

6,988 
 

6,277 

     Property sales 7,593  5,655 
 

2,593 
 

2,502 

 17,921  14,253  12,921  11,100 
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18. HOUSING STOCK 
 
In ownership and management   
   
The number of units of housing    accommodation under development and in management at 31st March 
2019 and 31st March 2020 were: 
 Group  Association 
 Units in 

Development 
Units in 

Management 
 Units in 

Development 
Units in 

Management 

 2020 

No. 

2019 

No. 

2020 

No. 

2019 

No. 

 2020 

No. 

2019 

No. 

2020 

No. 

2019 

No. 
          

General needs housing - 
social rent 

- - 694 647  - - 647 647 

General needs housing - 
affordable rent  

72 67 156 129  72 67 156 129 

General needs housing – 
intermediate rent 

- - 11 11  - - 11 11 

Affordable home ownership 12 10 374 374  12 10 374 374 

Total units owned or in 
development 

84 77 1,235 1,161  84 77 1,188 1,161 

Units managed on behalf of 
other registered providers 

- - 4 83  - - - 83 

 84 77 1,239 1,244  84 77 1,188 1,244 

 
Analysis of movement in units owned and managed: 
 
Group       

 

 

At 31st 
Mar 
2019 Additions Disposals 

Amalga- 
mations 

Conv- 
ersions Other 

At 31st 
Mar 2020 

Units owned:       
 

Social housing 
      

 

Owned general 
needs - social rent 647 - - 47 - - 

 

694 

Owned general 
needs - affordable 
rent 129 27 - - - - 

 

156 

Owned general 
needs - intermediate 
rent 11 - - - - - 

 

11 

Shared Ownership 374 - - - - - 374 

 
1,161 27 - 47 - - 1,235 

Non-Social housing - - - - - - - 

Total owned 1,161 27 - 47 - - 1,235 

        

Units managed       
 

Managed units 
general needs 83 

- (32) (47) - - 

 
4 
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Association       

 

 

At 31st 
Mar 

2019 Additions Disposals 
Amalga-
mations 

Conv- 
ersions Other 

At 31st 
Mar 2020 

Units owned:       
 

Social housing 
      

 

Owned general 
needs - social rent 

647 - - - - - 

 
647 

Owned general 
needs - affordable 
rent 

129 27 - - - - 

 
156 

Owned general 
needs - intermediate 
rent 

11 - - - - - 

 
11 

Shared Ownership 
374 - - - - - 

374 

 1,161 27 - - - - 1,188 

Non-Social housing - - - - - - - 

Total owned 1,161 27 - - - - 1,188 

       
 

Units managed:        

Managed units 
general needs 

83 - (32) (47) - - 

 
4 

 
19. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 
Reconciliation of surplus to net cash inflow from operating activities 
 
 Group  Association 
 2020  2019 

Restated 
 2020  2019 

Restated 
 

 £000     £000  £000  £000 
Surplus for the year 3,333  290  554  299 
Adjustments for non-cash items:        
Depreciation and assets written off 1,511  1,465  1,492  1,465 
Aborted scheme costs 63  -  63  - 
Write- off share capital -  -  -  - 
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other 
debtors 

18  (128)  23  (129) 

Increase in trade and other creditors (41)  348  (36)  236 
(Decrease)/Increase in provisions (141)  135  (141)  135 
Decrease/(Increase) in properties 
developed for sale 

(528)  (599)  -   (283) 

Other comprehensive income 130  (138)  130  (138) 
Gain on acquisition (2,639)  -  -  - 
Adjustments for investing or financing 
activities: 

       

Profit on disposal of fixed assets -  -  -  - 
Government grants utilised during the year (440)  (429)  (440)  (429) 
Interest Receivable (14)  (33)  (12)  (33) 
Interest Payable 1,262  1,300  1,258  1,299 

Net Cash Inflow from Operating 
Activities 

2,514  2,211 
 

2,891 
 

2,422 
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Analysis of change in net debt 
 

Group 
  At 31st 

March 
2019 

Cashflows Other 
Changes 

At 31st 
March 

2020 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cash at bank and in hand  3,337 (1,704) 811 2,444 

Overdrafts  - - - - 

  3,337 (1,704) 811 2,444 

Debt due within one year  (356) 10 (16) (362) 

Debt due after more than one year  (31,572) (2,209) (755) (34,536) 

Current asset investments  - - - - 

Net debt  (28,591) (3,903) 40 (32,454) 

 
Association 
  At 31st 

March 
2019 

Cashflows Other 
Changes 

At 31st 
March 

2020 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cash at bank and in hand  3,336 (1,816) - 1,520 

Overdrafts  - - - - 

  3,336 (1,816) - 1,520 

Debt due within one year  (356) 10 - (346) 

Debt due after more than one year  (31,572) (2,209) - (33,781) 

Current asset investments  - - - - 

Net debt  (28,592) (4,015) - (32,607) 

 
20. SOCIAL HOUSING PENSION SCHEME (SHPS) DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME 

 
English Rural Housing Association Limited participates in the Social Housing Pension Scheme 
(the Scheme), a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to some 500 non-associated 
employers. The Scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. 
 
English Rural Housing Association Limited closed this Scheme DB to new staff from 2005. Under 
auto-enrolment, new staff are enrolled into the SHPS Defined Contribution (DC) scheme, 
significantly reducing the risk of the contingent liability detailed in Note 21 materialising. 
 
The Scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came 
into force on 30th December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions 
Regulator and Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out 
the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK. 
 
The last triennial valuation of the scheme for funding purposes was carried out as at 30th 
September 2017. This valuation revealed a deficit of £1,522m. A Recovery Plan has been put in 
place with the aim of removing this deficit by 30th September 2026. 
 
The Scheme is classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore, the company is 
potentially liable for other participating employers' obligations if those employers are unable to 
meet their share of the scheme deficit following withdrawal from the Scheme. Participating  
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employers are legally required to meet their share of the Scheme deficit on an annuity purchase 
basis on withdrawal from the Scheme. 
 
For financial years ending on or before 28th February 2019, it has not been possible for the 
company to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the Scheme as a defined 
benefit scheme, therefore the company has accounted for the Scheme as a defined contribution 
scheme. 
 
For financial years ending on or after 31st March 2019, it is possible to obtain sufficient information 
to enable the company to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit scheme. 
 
For accounting purposes, a valuation of the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30 
September 2018. The liability figures from this valuation were rolled forward for accounting year-
ends from 31 March 2019 to 29 February 2020 inclusive. The liabilities are compared, at the 
relevant accounting date, with the company’s fair share of the Scheme’s total assets to calculate 
the company’s net deficit or surplus. 
 
Similarly, an actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 30 September 2019 to inform 
the liabilities for accounting year ends from 31 March 2020 to 28 February 2021 inclusive. 
 

 

FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS, PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT 

OBLIGATION, AND DEFINED BENEFIT ASSET (LIABILITY) 

  31 March 2020 31 March 2019 

  (£000s) (£000s) 

Fair value of plan assets 
                   

834  
                   761  

Present value of defined benefit obligation 
                   

945  
                1,014  

Surplus (deficit) in plan 
                 

(111) 
                 (253) 

Unrecognised surplus 
                       

-  
                       -  

Defined benefit asset (liability) to be 

recognised 

                 

(111) 
                 (253) 

Deferred tax  -  -  

Net defined benefit asset (liability) to be        

recognised 
 (111)  (253)  
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RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE 

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION 

    Period from 

  31 March 2019 to 

    31 March 2020 

    (£000s) 

Defined benefit obligation at start of period                   1,014  

Current service cost                        28  

Expenses                          2  

Interest expense                        24  

Member contributions                        17  

Actuarial losses (gains) due to scheme 

experience 
                       16  

Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes in demographic 

assumptions 
                     (9) 

Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes in financial 

assumptions 
                 (134) 

Benefits paid and expenses                      (13) 

Defined benefit obligation at end of period                      945  

 

RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE FAIR 

VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS 

    Period from 

    31 March 2019 to 

    31 March 2020 

    (£000s) 

Fair value of plan assets at start of period                      761  

Interest income                        18  

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest    

income) - gain (loss) 
                       4  

Employer contributions                        47  

Member contributions                        17  

Benefits paid and expenses                      (13) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of period                      834  
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DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (SOCI) 

   
    Period from 

    31 March 2019 to 

    31 March 2020 

    (£000s) 

Current service cost                      28  

Expenses                        2  

Net interest expense                        6  

Losses (gains) on business combinations                        -  

Losses (gains) on settlements                        -  

Losses (gains) on curtailments                        -  

Losses (gains) due to benefit changes                        -  

Defined benefit costs recognised in Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (SoCI) 

                     36  

 
DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (OCI) 
 

  
    Period from 

    31 March 2019 to 

    31 March 2020 

    (£000s) 

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net 
interest cost) - gain (loss) 

                       4  

Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities - gain 
(loss) 

                   (16) 

Effects of changes in the demographic assumptions underlying 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation - gain (loss) 

                       9  

Effects of changes in the financial assumptions underlying the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation - gain (loss) 

                   134  

Total actuarial gains and losses (before restriction due to some of 
the surplus not being recognisable) - gain (loss) 

                   131  

Effects of changes in the amount of surplus that is not recoverable 
(excluding amounts included in net interest cost) - gain (loss) 

                       -  

Total amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income - gain 
(loss) 

                   131  
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KEY ASSUMPTIONS 

   
  31 March 2020 31 March 2019 

  % per annum % per annum 

Discount Rate 2.38% 2.31% 

Inflation (RPI) 2.62% 3.29% 

Inflation (CPI) 1.62% 2.29% 

Salary Growth 2.62% 3.29% 

Allowance for commutation of pension for 
cash at     retirement 

 75% of maximum 
allowance  

 75% of maximum allowance  

 

 
The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 March 2020 imply the following life expectancies: 

   

    
Life expectancy at age 65 

    (Years) 

Male retiring in 2020   21.5 

Female retiring in 2020   23.3 

Male retiring in 2040   22.9 

Female retiring in 2040   24.5 

 
 
   

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITY 
 

Under the Occupational Pension Schemes (Employer Debt and Miscellaneous Amendments) 
Regulations 2008, an employer debt may become due, in respect of the DB scheme, in the event 
of an employer ceasing to participate in a multi-employer pension scheme. 
 
As the Association has closed the scheme to new entrants, then a debt could crystallise under 
the current regulations when the last active DB or DC member leaves pensionable service, should 
the scheme not be fully funded on a buy-out basis at that time. The potential employer debt was 
£960,887 as at 30th September 2019 (30th September 2018: £829,289).  
 
The Board has taken steps to mitigate against the possibility of the debt crystallising. This includes 
the decision that the SHPS DC pension is the Association’s qualifying scheme for the purposes 
of pension auto-enrolment. As the debt, if any, is not likely to crystallise in the foreseeable future, 
no provision is reflected in these accounts. There are currently 13 members of staff who are active 
members of either the SHPS DC or SHPS DB schemes.  
 

22. RELATED PARTIES 
 

There is one resident on the Board. His transactions with the Association continue to be on the 
same terms as for other residents. The Board have confirmed that there are no other related party 
transactions. 
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23. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 

The future minimum lease payments of leases are as set out below. Leases relate to office 
accommodation and office equipment. Where a break clause applies, the commitment extents to 
the date of the break clause. 
 
Operating lease payments are as follows:       
 Group   Association 

 2020  2019   2020  2019 

 
Land & Buildings 

£000  £000   £000  £000 

 
Due in less than 1 year 

 
102 

  
78 

   
102 

  
78 

Due between 2 and 5 years 222  190   222  190 

Due after 5 years -  -   -  - 

 

 Group   Association 
 2020  2019   2020  2019 
 £000  £000   £000  £000 
Other         
 
Due in less than 1 year 

 
24 

  
22 

   
24 

  
22 

Due between 2 and 5 years 16  37   16  37 

Due after 5 years -  -   -  - 

As at 31 March 364  327   364  327 

 
The operating lease expense for the year was £106k. 

 
24. SUBSIDIARIES 

 
English Rural Housing Association is parent company to two subsidiaries. ER Homes Limited is 
a wholly owned subsidiary and is incorporated and registered in England and Wales with 
company number 10538606 whose registered office is 7a Strutton Ground, London SW1P 2HY.  
 
ER Homes Limited purpose is to build and sell properties on the open market. ER Homes Limited 
commenced trading on 29th November 2018. On the 30th September 2019, New Forest Villages 
Housing Association became a wholly controlled subsidiary of English Rural Housing Association. 
New Forest Villages Housing Association is Registered Provider of Social Housing under the Co 
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. The Association provides rented housing 
for households in the New Forest District Council area in the greatest need and who are least 
able, through limited income, advanced age or disability, to obtain suitable accommodation in 
their own communities. 
 

25. GAIN ON ACQUISITION OF NEW FOREST VILLAGES HOUSING ASSOCIATION 
 

On the 30th September 2019, New Forest  Villages Housing Association (NFVHA)  became a 

wholly controlled subsidiary of English Rural Housing Association. To recognise this acquisition, 
the assets and liabilities of NFVHA as at 30th September 2019 were consolidated  into the Group 
accounts at fair value.  
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The following assets and liabilities were incorporated: 

         
  NFVHA 

Net Assets 
 Fair Value 

Adjustments 
 Total Gain 

on 
Acquisition 

  £000  £000  £000 
Fixed Assets       
Properties: At cost   2,706  (86)  2,620 
       
Current Assets       
Debtors  19  -  19 
Cash  811  -  811 
       
Current Liabilities       
Amounts falling due within 1 year  (63)  (10)  (73) 
       
Creditors Over One Year       
Loans  (236)  (502)  (738) 
Deferred Capital Grant  (1,728)  1,728  - 

Net Assets  1,509  1,130  2,639 

 

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS 
      Group    Association 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 
        
Liquidity reserve fund 396  390  396  390 

 396  390  396  390 

    
The Liquidity Reserve Fund (LRF) represents a long-term restricted cash deposit required 
under the terms of the Affordable Homes Fund (AHF) loan facility entered into by English Rural 
Housing Association in 2015. The agreement requires that a cash sum of at least one-year’s 
loan interest due (£380k) is held in an account that the lender has security over. The purpose 
being to provide a cash buffer to investors were the Association to default on its interest 
payments. The cash becomes available to the Association at the end of the loan ie 2044. 

 

27.  PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT 
 

The change in accounting policy relating to capitalisation of interest on new developments, 

referred to in accounting policy (g) on page 35, has required a prior-year adjustment to be made 

to the 2019 comparatives. The impact on the 2019 accounts is as follows: 

 

 As 
Previously 

Reported 

 Prior Year 
Adjustment 

2018/19 

 Now 
Reported 

 £000  £000  £000 
Group and Association      
      
Fixed Assets      
Properties: At cost 81,084  101  81,185 

      
      
Revenue Reserves 13,314  101  13,415 

      
Comprehensive Income Statement      
Interest Payable 1,294  (101)  1,193 
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